
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2009-0096

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:


	6
December 15, 2009
Pamela Nowina
Paul Sommerville
Cynthia Chaplin
	Presiding Member and Vice-Chair
Member

Member


EB-2009-0096
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF  a review of an application filed by Hydro One Networks Inc. for an order approving just and reasonable rates and other charges for electricity distribution for 2010 and 2011.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Tuesday, December 15th, 2009
commencing at 9:03 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 6
--------------------

BEFORE:

PAMELA NOWINA

Presiding Member and Vice-Chair

PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member

CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Member
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel
JENNIFER LEA
HAROLD THIESSEN
Board Staff
RUDRA MUKHERJI
DONALD ROGERS
Hydro One Networks Inc.

ANITA VARJACIC
ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN
Pollution Probe

DAVID POCH
Green Energy Coalition

PETER THOMPSON
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

RICHARD LONG
Society of Energy Professionals
JOHN DeVELLIS
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

JAY SHEPHERD

PETER FAYE
Energy Probe Research Foundation

DAVID MacINTOSH
DAVID CROCKER
Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition (VECC)

IAN MONDROW
Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario (ECAO); Rogers Cable Communications (Rogers)

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)
ALSO PRESENT:
GREG VAN DUSEN
Hydro One Networks Inc.

HENRY ANDRE
JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers' Council of Canada

SHELLEY GRICE 
Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)
1--- Upon commencing at 9:03 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


11HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3, OM&A AND CAPITAL (resumed)



D. Adams, G. Clark, R. Gee, R. Stevens,
Previously Sworn
12Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


51--- Recess taken at 10:20 a.m.


51--- Upon resuming at 10:59 a.m.


64Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren


70Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


92--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


92--- Upon resuming at 1:09 p.m.


93Preliminary Matters


94Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar (continued)


118Questions from the Board


128HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4 OM&A AND CAPITAL



P. Malozewski, K. McDonell, M. Villett, 

M. Winters, Sworn
128Examination by Mr. Rogers


133Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye


146--- Recess taken at 2:25 p.m.


146--- Upon resuming at 3:06 p.m.


146DECISION


148Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye (continued)


175Procedural Matters


181--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.




Error! No table of figures entries found.NO 
     NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING
TAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING
29UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  TO PROVIDE LEVEL 1 AND MINIMUM LEVEL TEST YEAR SPENDING FOR DATA COLLECTION, ENGINEERING AND TECHNICAL STUDIES AREAS ACCORDING TO TABLE 1, EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2.


30UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  TO PROVIDE 2008 AND 2009 LEVEL OF SPENDING AND CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF DEFECTS BEING ADDRESSED IN THOSE YEARS, EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 2, PAGE 20.


35UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF WHAT THE BACKLOG CONSISTS OF, IN TERMS OF NUMBER OF DEFECTS THAT ARE AWAITING CATCHUP I WILL CALL IT.  AND HOW LONG, BASED ON THIS INCREASED LEVEL OF SPENDING, THE COMPANY ANTICIPATES IT WILL TAKE TO CATCH UP.


50UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  to PROVIDE WORK PLAN SUPPORTING THE $5 million EXPENDITURE


54UNDERTAKING NO. J6.5:  TO EXPLAIN THE WHY ITEMS ARE LABELLED "ENHANCEMENTS" IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 83 WHEREAS ITEMS ARE LISTED AS "EXPANSION" IN SECTION 3.2.30 OF SYSTEM DISTRIBUTION CODE.


87UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  to PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF POLES REPLACED FOR TROUBLE CALLS AND STORM DAMAGE FOR 2009, TO DATE


124UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO ADVISE WHETHER MR. GEE'S DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET HAS INCREASED 2004 TO DATE.


149UNDERTAKING NO. J6.8:  TO PROVIDE HYDRO ONE'S RANKING ON THE BENCHMARK PERFORMANCE INDICES AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.


151UNDERTAKING NO. J6.9:  TO ADVISE percentAGE OF OVERTIME DOLLARS AS A FUNCTION OF TOTAL LABOUR DOLLARS.






Tuesday, December 15, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today is the sixth day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application, EB-2009-0096.  Today we will complete the examination of witness panel 3 and begin witness panel 4, both dealing with O&M and capital issues.

I understand that Mr. Warren has a preliminary matter for us, but before he does, are there any other preliminary matters?  None?  Mr. Warren.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.

I have now had an opportunity to review the Board's report on the cost of capital for Ontario's regulated utilities which was issued on Friday afternoon last, and had an opportunity to speak with my client and with a number of my colleagues on the intervenor side of the case.

And the submissions I am about to make will be made on behalf of my client and on behalf of the CME and VECC, as well.  It is our position, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, that Hydro One must make its case with evidence as to why the Board's policy should apply to it.  How it does so is, of course, its choice.

Our clients, however, would like the opportunity to lead evidence and ask the Board leave to be able to do so.

The process which that entails is, in my respectful submission, envisaged in the Board's report itself.  I will refer the Board, the Panel, to two passages only.  The first appears at page 8 under the heading the "Issues List", and in the middle of the paragraph there it says:
"The actual effect, if any, on specific utilities' revenue requirements as a result of any updated policies arising from this consultation and the determination of just and reasonable rates would not be addressed in this process, but in future rate proceedings."

Then later in the report at page 61, under the heading "Transition to Recommend Cost of Capital", the following passage appears:
"The onus is on an applicant to adequately support its proposed cost of capital, including the treatment of and appropriate rates for debt instruments.  The Board notes that this is being done in cost of service applications.  However, the Board wishes to point out the increased emphasis that it is placing on applicants to support their existing and forecasted debt, and the treatment of these in accordance with the guidelines, or to support any proposed different treatment."

Both of those passages, in my respectful submission, speak to the -- I guess, in a sense, what is obvious under the relevant sections of the Ontario Energy Board Act that each case must be decided on the evidence before you on its particular merits and must be subject to a hearing.

The mechanics involved in this, Madam Chair, I have, in the short time available to me, sought the availability of experts to provide evidence.  However, it is ten days before Christmas and they are not enthusiastic to do this in a hurry.  However, there is a preliminary indication that the earliest we could lead evidence would be perhaps the third week in January or the end of January, perhaps more realistically.

It is an open question, of course, what process the Board would envisage with respect to a discovery.

The Board's report will, if implemented in this case, have a material effect on rates, and, in my respectful submission, it is a matter -- aside from the Board's passages which I have cited, it is a matter of fundamental fairness that intervenors be allowed to lead evidence on this issue.

I finally note that I did send an e-mail to Mr. Rogers yesterday afternoon to alert him to the fact that I would be taking this position this morning.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Before I turn it over to Mr. Rogers, can I ask you a question?  When you suggest that the intervenors wish to lead evidence, can you give us a sense of what topics that evidence would cover?

MR. WARREN:  I can't, beyond saying -- I'm sorry to be so crudely shorthanded about it, but I do want to speak to my colleagues and to the expert.  I think, broadly speaking, the thrust of the evidence would be twofold:  Whether the particular analysis that obtains -- that is covered in the report should apply to this utility in these circumstances; and, secondly, broadly, what the cost of capital should be for Hydro One Networks in the two years which are under consideration.

I'm sorry to be so generic in my observation, but it really is early days in the process and we really have not had much of an opportunity to discuss it, in particular to discuss it with the possible experts.

MS. NOWINA:  That in itself is helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Rogers, do you have any comments?

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair --

MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.  Mr. DeVellis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I was wondering if you were planning on taking submissions from other parties, as well.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's a good point.  I should, Mr. DeVellis.  I was thinking we were only going to hear from Mr. Warren.  Go ahead.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Actually, SEC is substantially in agreement with Mr. Warren.  The only caveat is Mr. Shepherd had wanted to make a more fulsome submission on the issue, largely consistent with Mr. Warren's submission, but he couldn't be here today and his intention is to prepare a letter and send it in today on the issue.

So that's all I can say at this point.  I suppose that leaves us -- Mr. Rogers may want to respond to Mr. Shepherd's letter, but I expect it to be in at some point today.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, anyone else?  Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?

MR. MILLAR:  I do, Madam Chair.  Perhaps I can go before Mr. Rogers.  I am easy as to when to go.

MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment.  Mr. Crocker, did you have any comments?

MR. CROCKER:  Only one quick comment, Madam Chair.  I couldn't attend the meeting which -- where these ideas were developed, which is why AMPCO wasn't included in the group that Mr. Warren suggested he was speaking for, but we support the position he is taking.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

Sorry, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  It is Staff's view that this report and new policy of the Board does represent the Board's new policy with regard to cost of capital and that the report is fairly clear that it comes into effect starting for 2010 rates.  So, in our view, absent compelling reasons to the contrary, it should apply in the current case.

I don't wish to take you through the whole report, but Staff notes that this was arrived at through a robust and comprehensive process, I suspect one of the more comprehensive processes we have ever had for a policy paper.

As Mr. Warren pointed out, though, I think I have a slightly different section I might take your attention to.  Of course, the policy is not binding on a panel of the Board through a rates case.  This is, in fact, addressed at page 13 of the report, and if I could just read a couple of sentences from the final paragraph on that page, it says:
"The Board's refreshed cost of capital policies will be considered through rate hearings for the individual utilities, at which it is possible that specific evidence may be proffered and tested before the Board.  Board panels assigned to these cases will look to the report for guidance in how the cost of capital should be determined.  Board panels considering individual rate applications, however, are not bound by the Board's policy, and where justified by specific circumstances, may choose not to apply the policy (or a part of the policy)."

So the report does, indeed, envision there may be cases in which a party, be it an applicant or intervenor, chooses to lead evidence or perhaps even argument as to why a policy should not apply in specific circumstances.  But I think, absent any specific argument or evidence to that effect, that we would apply the policy.

So I may slightly disagree with my friend, Mr. Warren, regarding Hydro One's need to justify the application of the policy.  Of course, the onus always lies on an applicant to justify its entire rate case.

However, the Board has many policies that inform many different rate scenarios.  Just to give an example, the incentive rates mechanism for electricity LDCs was entirely -- come about through Board policy.  That's nothing more than a Board policy.

We don't ask the individual LDCs that come forward to justify an X factor of one, for example.  We simply apply the policy.  And I would suggest that that would be the case here, absent any good reason to not follow that.

Just to follow up very briefly on that, I don't know exactly what the intervenors might propose to file, and I take it from Mr. Warren that they're not exactly sure, either.


But I would suggest that if this is simply to be a refiling of the evidence in the policy proceeding, then my suggestion would be that that would not be a productive use of the Board's time.  If there is something different or a particular angle that is to be followed in this Hydro One case, then, yes, perhaps the Board does need to hear that.

But the Board just finished this policy and just went through a lot of evidence from a lot of experts including Dr. Booth from some of the intervenor groups, and I wouldn't suggest that we should simply rehear identical evidence in this case.

Those are my submissions, thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, I will be brief.  I largely agree with Board Counsel on this point.

I was not at your process to develop the cost of capital but I have read your report very carefully and it is clear to me it was a very, very comprehensive review where all of the participants in this case were represented there.

I especially agree with Mr. Millar when he says that the applicant has no onus to call evidence to show that your formula should apply to it.  I point out my client in this case in its application, summary of application at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1, page 3 made it very clear that its return on equity, they expect will be adjusted to reflect the result of your formalistic determination, whatever the outcome.  It was prepared to live with whatever you decided after that very comprehensive review.

My question is, why now are the intervenors seeking to call evidence and delay the hearing?  If they felt there was some principled reason why this, why your policy should not apply to Hydro One, it should have been raised from the very beginning of this case.  Not now when, after the results of your report are out.

It is your process and, but my client was clear that it respected your process.  It participated in your process and it was prepared to live with the outcome of your process in this case, whatever it may be.

Now, as to -- I am particularly concerned about the onus on the applicant to call evidence here.  I submit that the whole purpose of your review as I understand it from reading your report was to try to obviate the kind of need to have this kind of evidence in every case.  It is costly.  And I just rely on the fact that Hydro One made it very clear in its application, that this was its application, that it intended that it would be adjusted to reflect the formula and also even specifically stated that if your report was out in a timely way, it would apply the results of your report without knowing what those might be.

Secondly, I draw the Board's attention to the fact that in at least the last two distribution cases in which I have been involved, this company has applied to you on a basis in which it accepted the formula to determine its cost of equity.  No one objected to it.  The Board accepted it as being appropriate to apply to Hydro One Distribution.  And the same is true, by the way, in the case of Hydro One Transmission in its last case.  So that there are three cases where this Board has found that it is appropriate to apply your formula to Hydro One.

Now, as to a final position here, I really was hoping to have a little better idea of what evidence was going to be called by the intervenors, you know, if it was to say these are tough economic times and the Board's formula should not apply in these times, that's one thing.

If it is to say that the Board's formula is -- results in unfair return, that's another thing.

I don't know what evidence it is I am going to be called upon to meet and therefore I am reluctant to take a strong position.

I will just say this in closing.  A delay is the enemy of us all in these present circumstances.  I don't want to have a rush to judgment here.  This is an important case and a lot of important issues to be determined, but my client is very concerned that this case not be inordinately delayed to a conclusion for the reasons that were expressed by the witnesses and particularly Mr. Struthers, in particular Mr. Struthers.

So I would like to reserve my position as to this filing of evidence which is late -- I would like to hear why it wasn't done earlier -- until I know better what kind of evidence it is that will be led.

So I am not agreeing, in other words, I am not consenting to allowing my friend to call late evidence.  My client doesn't want to foreclose a legitimate debate here, but we don't want to revisit things that have been exhaustively canvassed resulting in a report that is only a week old.

Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, your submission?  Do you want to respond?

MR. WARREN:  First of all, Madam Chair, it is 72 hours old, less than that.  Nobody could have envisaged what would be in this report and, in my respectful submission, we've made, I have certainly made a good faith effort to try to respond to this quickly to see what we can do to pursue what is, in my respectful submission, a legitimate right to lead evidence.

This is not the time or the place to join issue on the question of whether this was or was not an exhaustive review.  I simply remind the participants that there wasn't one moment of cross-examination on any of the material led in this case, certainly no cross-examination on any particular led by Hydro One Networks of the kind that would be necessary in order to arrive at evidence which can form the basis of a decision.

I don't know at this stage, Mr. Rogers, exactly what evidence we would lead beyond what I have said to the Board.  But at the earliest possible opportunity, we will let Mr. Rogers know at least in a generic way.

Finally, we're talking about a delay of something over five weeks to be able to lead the evidence which in light of the extraordinary amount of money which my friend's client poses to have us all bear, that does not seem, to me, to be really untoward.  Those are my responses, thanks.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  The Board will take the comments under consideration.  It is not clear to me yet whether or not we need to give you guidance today or to ask for further information before we give guidance, but we will discuss that later in the day and give you some comments today.

With that, let's move back to panel 3.  And we have still remaining to cross-examine this panel, Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Warren, and Mr. Millar.

Who would like to go first?  Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Warren is pointing at you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3, OM&A AND CAPITAL (resumed)


David Adams, Previously Sworn


Grant Clark, Previously Sworn


Raymond Gee, Previously Sworn


Rick Stevens, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I am going to start with some questions of clarification on customer care.

And I understand, from looking at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 5, page 3, that the total customer care forecast for 2010 is 106.3 million.  Can you confirm that?

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking back at the transmission application EB-2008-0272, and I will give you a reference and I provided the page for you just to refresh your memory, but it was Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 1 in the transmission application which I understand to have forecasted the same type of cost across Hydro One for the same test year, the 2010 test year, the amount was $98.6 million for 2010.  Is that correct?

MR. ADAMS:  I see that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there is a -- between the transmission forecast for 2010 for customer care and the distribution forecast for 2010 for customer care, there is an increase of $7.7 million; do you agree with that?

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, first between the time of the transmission case and the distribution case, have the responsibilities within that bucket of costs, if I can call it that, the customer care costs changed?  Have there been any responsibilities come out of customer care or gone into customer care to and from other areas that would make those two figures non-comparable?  Or unfair to compare them?

MR. ADAMS:  In terms of overall scope and responsibilities, no.  No change.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in this application, I believe generally you've confirmed that one of the key drivers for the year-over-year increase in customer care costs from 2008 is, would be the new requirements under the Green Energy Act; is that fair?

MR. ADAMS:  I think it is fair to say that as I mentioned yesterday, that there are a number of areas in the current filing that we're talking about today that are driven by increased work and support of new renewable generators, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I take it from that that part of the $7.7 million difference is related to Green Energy Act costs?

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.  As I mention the support of those generators, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you put a number on that?  And assuming there is a shortfall, are there other reasons why the transmission forecast for 2010 is different than the distribution forecast for 2010, for the same global number?

MR. ADAMS:  I think we mentioned yesterday confirming the guesstimate that Mr. Van Dusen had provided the previous week, that it would be between 3-1/2 and $5 million that we would associate with those renewable generators.

In addition, one of the other areas that has changed is the bad debt forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So approximately half of the $7.7 million is reaction to the Green Energy Act responsibility, and another half or so increased bad debt?

MR. ADAMS:  More or less, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I think that is all I have for customer care.

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can also tell you that I have no questions on vegetation management, which I am sure you are happy to hear.

I am going to ask you to turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 51, part (b).  I think you can tell I am placing my hands in Board Staff for the audio-visual accompaniment.  I spoke too soon.  Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 51, part (b).  This is something that was referred to -- I think in panel 2 there was some discussion about this particular interrogatory response.

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you can go to page 2, it actually shows you the answer.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in this first graphic here, it sets out the various levels of spending on station maintenance that were considered during the investment, planning and prioritization process; correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me which of these three spending levels is, I guess, implicit in the actual filing?

MR. GEE:  Station maintenance is level 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  From the application -- and I don't think you have to turn it up, but I will give you the reference.  Maybe we can leave this VECC graphic on the screen, and, if you want to check the numbers, you can flip to your IRs or through your evidence.

Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 5 shows the spending for this area for the test years, and it is 24.4 million in 2010 and 26.8 million in 2011.

MR. GEE:  C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Five.

MR. GEE:  Page 5, thanks.  Yes, I have it.  Sorry, you asked?

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at the IR response here to numbers 51(b), it looks like at level 2 spending your 2010 and 2011 test year amounts are roughly one-fifth of the total.  I can tell you it looks like you have taken the total cost over five years and spread it out evenly over the five years.

MR. GEE:  Yes.  The IR response is giving the number from a five-year plan, because the planning investment process looks at risk over a five-year period.

The evidence is showing the first two years of those, because that's what is the revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am trying to get a sense of whether this -- is that normal to take the five-year amount and split it over the five years evenly?  Is that a matter of practice, or is it individualized to the specific needs of the category?

MR. GEE:  It is individualized for each specific case, depending on the information we have available, the conditions of assets, the ability to resource work, all of the considerations.  So it really is dependent on each scenario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I had a discussion about minimum level with panel 2 and the idea that minimum level is supposed to avoid unacceptable risk within the five-year time frame.

Did you have a chance to review that evidence, and have I fairly characterized the upshot of that evidence?

MR. GEE:  Yes, in a very simplistic manner.  It is more complicated than that, but...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am okay with simplistic.

Now, looking again at the stations example and looking at minimum level, I take it that means that -- first of all, there is nothing in here indicating on any of the business value categories a risk that falls within the unacceptable risk area; correct?

MR. GEE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, with respect to the individual business value risk areas, I can't tell from here when these risks -- how the quantification of these risks manifest themselves over time.  I have tried to understand -- explain what that means.

So, for example, I can't tell from this if that level of consequence, with that level of likelihood, for example, in the financial area of very likely and major, exists as a risk in year 1 or year 5 or consistently throughout the five years.

Can you help me with that?

MR. GEE:  I don't have that information right now.  It is rather -- it is very specific detail in the asset planning piece.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But is it -- okay.  Without having me tell me the actual answer for this example, is it something that generally is -- that's the level of risk -- is it the maximum level of risk in occurrence over the five years and it will maximize somewhere within the five years, or is it a general statement?

MR. GEE:  Well --

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- that's how big it gets in a five-year period, or that's the worst it will get in that category in the five years, sometime within the five years?

MR. GEE:  I think the concept that you have to keep in mind is that this is probability-based.  It is not as deterministic as saying, Here's the risk on this day and where we're going; you know, I will stay home that day because that is going to happen.

I think it really is trying to categorize the probability of events and how big those events are going to happen some time in the planning period.  And I think it is fair to say the risk does increase with minimum level of spending going forward.

You know, in listening and reading the transcripts on the theoretical approach to the risk approach, and the discussion about increasing probability and a bit of the discussion is unacceptable risk in year 5, or is it year 6 right afterwards, I think a really good example of what minimum spending will do for you and what you get out of it is an example of the current state of vegetation management.

If you look at the history in vegetation management, and I know you weren't going to ask that, but I think is a really good example of it.  We had a number of years of minimum accomplishments in vegetation management, and I think as you go through the evidence here, you can see many examples of reliability that is worse than all comparators.

You've driven cost efficiency, which is not a consideration in minimum.  Minimum keeps you out of risk.  It doesn't talk about how you most cost effectively do the work.  You've got unit costs that are extremely high.  You've got impacts on customer satisfaction because of reliability.

You now have yourself a very significant amount of work that you are trying to get done in the most efficient manner, and you can't just fix it the next day after minimum spending.

So, you know, the concept of what minimum is and whether it is -- when that risk happens is a bit of a theoretical exercise.

The outcome you get from minimum spending I think is very clearly demonstrated in where we are with vegetation management.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I think you're right.  I didn't ask the vegetation management, so I am intact on my promise.

But taking you back to the stations example to see if I understand this a little better, when the planner sits down and comes up with a minimum level spending of $99.9 million, which is shown on the table, and comes to a conclusion based on all of the evidence that we heard about in panel 2, that, for example, the reputation consequences is major and likelihood is very likely within the five-year planning --

MR. GEE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- I am trying to get at:  Does that necessarily mean or could it mean that that's the consequence in year 1?  It could be something where they said, Well, if we do this minimum spending in one year, we have a very likely chance of a major consequence in that category in year 1, or is it, Looking at the five years, where are we going to end up after five years of minimum level spending?

Is it that, because if it is in year one, it suggests to me that it could be -- when we're talking about probabilities increasing, that it would be worse after year one.

MR. GEE:  So the kind of categorization we'll have is we're trying to determine a probability here.

We are trying to decide the probability and what has happened.  So we have a few different views of trying to come up with that item.

One might be very likely that the chances of it happening -- the chances of it happening is greater than one time every two years might be one scenario.  It also would have a range that might say, what is the probability it would happen in the next year?  What is the likelihood of it happening over five years?  So there is a number of different ways of trying to assess the probability knowing the conditions we have created with the investment level.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's interesting, because I am starting to remember my panel 2 cross.  And I recall that the three different ways of assessing the probability.  My understanding is when you get to this stage and when I see very likely, for example, under the reputation risk, that represents I think it is somewhere, something greater than 95 percent of it happening within the five years.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understand there is those other two measures that also means -- does that also mean it is likely to happen at least once within two years?  It seems to have three different ways of taking probability.  This table in which, as I understand, is what goes up to the planning process talks about the probability within the five years.

I don't think it specifically, or at least it doesn't appear to me to specifically talk to these other two ways of looking at probability.

MR. GEE:  Any one of those three categories I described makes this very likely in our determination.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So for any business -- I am going to try to extrapolate from that answer.

Any time I see "very likely" in one of these tables under one of the business values for any one of the 100 or so different areas where this type of planning goes on, it could mean 95 percent within five years, but it also could mean an occurrence within those other two categories?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.  And again, this determination of probability is based on experienced judgment.  So it is not as perfectly mechanical as that.

We are asking experienced people to pass their judgment using those three categories and each of the probabilities are distinct enough that they're able to fit it in there and articulate that appropriately.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, if I were to -- I am not going to ask you, but if I were to ask for all of the underlying documentation or the more detail of this particular table, I would be able to go through the different business value risks and say, well, for financial, it is very likely, and what they mean by that is it is 95 percent chance over the five years it will happen, but for reputation, for example, the consequence may have been quantified, it may be a different one.  You could say actually, it is very likely it could happen in the first two years, and that way you have would have distinguished between the short term and long-term the two-year horizon versus the five-year horizon?

Is that something I could find out if I --

MR. GEE:  I don't believe from my recollection, that that particular case is documented on what the planner chose.

What you have is the planner looking at the situation that we're going to have with this investment level and then using these criteria as guidance saying, Is it going to be very likely, likely, medium, and they may not have said, This is the box I used.  It probably is -- because it isn't deterministic, it is looking at that and making the judgment that this more likely applies considering any one of these possibilities, because, you know, if you're going to say it is 95 percent in five years versus happening in two years, it is not that scientific.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in approaching the planning process, it sounds like the planner would have obviously gone through that exercise of fitting it into one of the three categories but once they come up with very likely in the matrix, it didn't matter anymore.  You didn't have to go on and maintain that record of which of the three it was that led them to very likely. Once it is very likely in the five-year horizon, it is very likely.

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you very much.

I just want to briefly touch on something that was said yesterday.  You had raised, I think in response to Mr. Crocker's questions about how customer affordability was brought into the process and you spent some time with Mr. DeVellis about it.

Can you give me a sense of whether and how -- I am going to call it the threshold of customer affordability -- is expressed to the planner at the point where they're being asked to take back their work and rework it.

MR. GEE:  The most typical scenario would be any of the constraints coming back including customer affordability, being a decision that we would move from one level to another in a number of funding.  If it is decided we can't do this much of work, we will use the risk assessment.  I think Mr. Van Dusen used the term that the risk scorers try to make a description as if all work is being even.  You can understand.  We use that basis as a judgment that would likely move from saying we think level 2 is the right answer here for the assets, our business values for the customer, and because of constraints we may go to level 1.  That's the most common scenario in investment.

The other possibility is that we may change the levels we create to articulate the risk, and that is more common in a resource constraint.  We can't do it all today.  We may go and create a risk that says we're going to have to ramp up more slowly to the ideal area.  So those are the two areas that would come back.  The most common one would be looking at the less risk impact of moving to lower levels.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me a sense of whether the issue of customer affordability is, expresses a concern on an area-by-area basis?

For example, for stations, and I am not saying this is what happened, but is it possible that the company or the management comes back to you and says:  This particular area doesn't meet the, our threshold of customer affordability?  I would think, and why I ask it would be more of a general rate impact.

MR. GEE: It is more than, it is more of a general area, saying:  We need, we can't get this amount of work done in this area.

We can't fund all of that.  And from that we would go back and look at the areas to go.  The senior management would not come back, usually -- I have seen them say station maintenance needs to be reduced, unless they have recommended that because they have seen the rate scoring, but that is not the case.  They're coming back with constraints in total.

The asset managers are then deciding how we best approach that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you for that.

I am going to move on.  If you could turn up Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 26.  Sorry.  26.

Here you were asked if you considered reducing studies in other areas to offset the increased costs of the required load flow studies.

And the short answer was "yes," which you can see in the response on the screen.

Could you outline more specifically what studies the company considered not doing to mitigate budget increases?  Because I think the rest of the answer doesn't talk about what was actually considered.

MR. GEE:  So in the asset planning process, we would have had various levels of funding.  Each of those levels would have had a number of studies of the type of studies or the focus of the work.

So lower levels of funding would have, in fact, had lower -- would have had fewer studies in them and would have had the target on where they were going and whether you move from being proactive, whether you are having studies done in areas where we know generation is coming and having the study means our turnaround time is significantly faster versus not doing that in the funding and waiting in a reactive manner to do that and where we're going.

So that is how the consideration of not doing the studies was actually considered in the process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am not sure I understood it the way you meant me to understand it, so I am going to recast it for you and you tell me if I am wrong.

It sounds like you considered the idea overall of reducing your spending in that area and it doesn't sound like you went through the proposed studies or you list the proposed studies and looked at them individually to see, well, can we -- can we delay or not do this one now to reduce money.  It sounds like it was more of a generic approach to the funding level as opposed to look at specific studies and say we can get away without doing this one for a year or two, for example.  Is that fair?

MR. GEE:  I think your approach of looking at the individual studies as part of the actual execution of the work -- what you do have is an approach to say, What is our -- how are we going to handle these studies?  Where are we going?  Are we going to be proactive and be able to know where we are expecting foldage problems and reliability issues and not meeting system design requirements, or are we -- on the other hand, are we going to be reactive; we are not going to do anything proactively and we will only deal with them after we have a problem after our customer has experienced issues or not be prepared for generation to come?

So the planning process looks at the level of studies we do from that point of view.  Once you have decided the level of funding and you are looking at exactly what work you would do, it would be the process you described.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you determine the funding first, and then determine which studies you are going to do or not do?

MR. GEE:  The -- so we know the state of our feeders.  We know the last time studies have been done.  We have information on where there are pockets of load growth.  We know where there are generators coming and how many feeders we have to deal with and the state of our information.

So from that, we can determine, from a pure asset need to meet the business values, what studies we should do.  And you can have various levels, depending on, We are going to have all studies done every year be in a perfect state, which isn't even one of the levels we describe, but you could go there, or you say, I know I have all of this work, but I am not going to do it.  I am going to defer it.

So we -- from those information of what -- the work we have, we then determine the various levels and possibilities that we're doing.  So we have that solid information.

Once we assign the risk to it and go through a prioritization process, we come to a level.  Based on that level, the ideal state might have been -- the state we have approved might be 100 studies less than the ideal we had.  We would then decide which 100 we're not doing by the process you described.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Forgive me if this isn't how it works.  So is there a -- can you tell me what level of spending the development OM&A is at?

I am assuming that is the area that would encompass all of the studies that we're talking about?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  It is level 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have a list of proposed studies that make up the level 2 level spending, and if you were to, for example, go to level 1, you would say, Okay, we have level 1 spending, and then you have the ability to go through and say, Well, level 1 means we can't do studies X, Y and Z, but we do do studies A, B and C, or something like that?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's what we would do.  And in doing that, we accept the additional risks that goes with lowering that.  We lose some of the cost efficiency we might from having studies prepared for generators before they come in the door based on our capability.  So we lose that benefit by going to that level, but we would systematically go through and make the decisions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me an idea -- well, when you say this is a level 2 spending, what is the amount?  I don't have these numbers handy.

MR. GEE:  So the exhibit is C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2, table 1.  And the first line of the table describes both the data collection requirement and the studies piece that are required in there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So for the test years, it is, for 2010, 6.8 million, and for 2011, 6.9 million?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is level 2?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then what would level 1 have been?

MR. GEE:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am assuming you could do it by way of undertaking, like, provide a level 1 and minimum level just for comparison purposes?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, can I take that undertaking?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  TO PROVIDE LEVEL 1 AND MINIMUM LEVEL TEST YEAR SPENDING FOR DATA COLLECTION, ENGINEERING AND TECHNICAL STUDIES AREAS ACCORDING TO TABLE 1, EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you need me to describe it?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, if you wouldn't mind.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To provide minimum level and level 1 test year spending for the data collection, engineering and technical studies areas as described in table 1 at C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page -- I think you said it was 2?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

May I ask you to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 20?

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here it is highlighted on my screen -- sorry, it is easier to see on my screen.

You indicate that the number of defects you plan on addressing in the preventive maintenance area increases from 18,500.  This is at line 18.  The 2010 requirement is to address approximately 18,500 defects in 2010 and 25,000 in 2011.  Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then there is a corresponding increase in spending for defect correction from $9.2 million to $13.1 million?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's in the first line.

Could you tell me what level of spending for defect correction you had for 2008 and 2009?

MR. GEE:  I don't have the historical spending levels with me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you, by way of undertaking, provide the 2008 and 2009 level of spending and the corresponding number of defects that were being addressed in each of those years?  So, basically, from this paragraph going back two years to provide the continuity.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  TO PROVIDE 2008 AND 2009 LEVEL OF SPENDING AND CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF DEFECTS BEING ADDRESSED IN THOSE YEARS, EXHIBIT C1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 2, PAGE 20.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you don't have to turn it up, I don't think, but undertaking response H, tab 1, schedule 21, talks about this increase as being required to address a backlog of defects?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how large the backlog is and the number of defects that we're talking about?

MR. GEE:  I don't have the exact number that we're looking at.  I think perhaps describing the process that we have used over the last few years might be helpful.

As part of the -- part of our patrol and asset condition, we do patrol all our lines.  It is a requirement of the Distribution System Code to patrol all lines on a six-year cycle, urban in a three-year.  It is also required that you identify and log defects and correct them in a manner.

What we have been doing at this point over the last number of years is prioritizing the defects that we have found and dealt with the most severe ones, the ones most likely to cause us a problem.  But what we have over the last number of years is collected a number of defects of a lower priority at the time, and we have a number of them sitting in our asset condition database.

We're really at the point where we have to be able to deal with them.  We believe we now have enough information, having patrolled enough of the feeders, that we have this complete view of the defects, that we can handle them in the most cost-efficient manner; we can integrate them with other work.

And our attempt here at this point is to start to deal with those complete pictures, which will actually meet the Distribution System Code requirements to replace the defects, and we believe will also address the second-largest issue of reliability, which is equipment failure, as far as reliability.

So it is an issue that needs to be done and dealt with.  Our plan at this point is not to do them all in the first year.  It is to start to integrate them into our normal work program, get them done most efficiently and meet the Code requirements.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You started off by saying you didn't have a number of backlog.  You said you don't have a number, or you don't have a number today?  Like, you don't have it with you?

MR. GEE:  I am unfamiliar with the details of the system and how easy it would be to pull out that exact number.

So I couldn't even tell you the degree of difficulty of getting it, if it's there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in your answer, you also mentioned that you're not doing it on the first year, which suggests to me there is a plan for how long you will be addressing defects -- sorry, not addressing defects but addressing this backlog.  Is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Right.  I think the -- I think part of that consideration is that the patrolling of the lines is an ongoing case.  We will now be going through the lines and patrolling them for a second time in a six-year cycle.

And so it is not a static case.  We will be adding new defects to this as we go.

So it is not just that, oh, we got this backlog and piece of work to do.  New work is coming in from the defects from the ongoing asset conditions and ongoing asset patrols.  So it's not:  This is the chunk this is what we're doing there is new work coming into the hopper as we go.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that but there is a distinct impression that there is a -- I will call it a glut -- of backlogged defects that you want to get done.

And that causes an increased spending over the test years where you are not only doing the work that you would normally do in the six-year cycle, if I understood you correctly, but also addressing backlog that has been filing up I think over the last four years or so.

MR. GEE:  Four or five years, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I am looking for is some indication of how many defects that backlog represents, and then how long it will be, based on this increased spending, before that backlog is caught up so that you presumably will go back to a normal level of spending over I guess what is it a six-year cycle for correcting defects.  Because it sounds like you got a spike in costs to addressed backlog then presumably it has to go back down somehow when you have caught up the back lock but I have no sense of how big the backlog is and how long this plan seeks to rectify that backlog.

MR. GEE:  I don't have that information specifically.

It is -- we're only starting to deal with the backlog with the 2011, the second year of the test case.

So it is definitely outside the test years and the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you get me an estimate of what the backlog is and how long it will take to catch up based on this increased level of activity?  I am trying to get a size of -- you have identified for us what appears to be a problem.  And I am trying to get to the size of the problem and the length over time over which you are proposing to address it.  That's basically what I am looking for.

MR. GEE:  With the caveat that it may be an estimate based on specifically how timely we can get the information from the undertaking.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I do this?  If the Board will find it useful, the company will just make enquiries and advise you.  If the information is readily available, I am sure they will provide it.  If not, I can let you know and maybe we can find some other way to answer the concern.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  We are going to get the actual costs for the previous two years, I think that would be very helpful to put that in context by knowing what the backlog is.

MR. ROGERS:  Let us see what might be available readily.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's give it an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.3.  Mr. Buonaguro I heard you fairly clearly, but just to make sure you and Mr. Rogers are on the same page could you repeat the undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF WHAT THE BACKLOG CONSISTS OF, IN TERMS OF NUMBER OF DEFECTS THAT ARE AWAITING CATCHUP I WILL CALL IT.  AND HOW LONG, BASED ON THIS INCREASED LEVEL OF SPENDING, THE COMPANY ANTICIPATES IT WILL TAKE TO CATCH UP.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To provide an estimate of what the backlog consists of, in terms of number of defects that are awaiting catch up, I will call it.  And how long, based on this increased level of spending, the company anticipates it will take to catch up.

MR. GEE:  If I may add.  It might be around this level of spending as per the planning period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say the planning period, the five years?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GEE:  We're making the presumption this level of spending goes up and stays.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But you can describe what your plan is in terms of -- and where you will be I guess at the end of the five years in terms of catch up.  That's fine.  Whatever you can put to make me understand it, that would be great.  Thank you.

I would like to ask you to turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.  Pages 4 and 5 I am going to be looking at.

MR. GEE: Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this, there is a discussion here of how for load customers connecting to Hydro One Networks system, the division of costs is determined based on the Distribution Code requirements.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on the top of Page 5, specifically reference the recent changes by the Board and the fact the revised Distribution System Code requires distributors to pay for enhancement costs required to accommodate a new increasing load.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, as I understand it, the Distribution System Code makes a distinction between connection costs, expansion costs and enhancement costs.  And the distinction is important because cost responsibility varies depending on the classification costs; correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And under the new Distribution System Code, if I can summarize, load customers pay for all connection costs through capital contributions?

MR. GEE:  We define a standard connection and we provide that as per the conditions of service.  There is also a distinction between lie along customers and customers that are not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Load customers pay for expansion costs in excess of the allowance determined.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And a distributor's responsible for all of the enhancement costs?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And as you have noted at page 5, the fact -- that distributors are now responsible for enhancement costs associated with new load customers is the change that has been recently introduced.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it is one of the drivers for your projected development capital costs to be higher than in the past.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now I am asking, I would like to ask you to turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, Exhibit 83.

MR. GEE:  Page 7, tab 3, 83?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  H7.

MR. GEE:  Thank you.  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Going over to page 2.  On what is labelled part 3 of the answer, or just under -- sorry, you can see on the screen it says:
"Hydro One considers the following work as an 'enhancement' of the distribution system when connecting load customers",

and you have listed a number of items.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if we can get on the screen -- and I warned Board Staff about this yesterday and I don't know if he has remembered -- the Distribution System Code at section 3.2.30.

Do you have that?

MR. GEE:  I don't have a copy of the Code.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We are going to get it up on the screen here.  Section 3.2.30, and keep your finger on your interrogatory response at H-7-83.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know the page, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can get it for you.

MR. MILLAR:  We can find it here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 36.

Yes.  So it starts at page 35, but the sections I am going to be talking about - well, we can read it before we flip over.  3.2.30 says:  "An expansion of the main distribution system includes," then it has a list of things that are inclusive under the definition of expansion.  Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we can scroll up so we just see page 36.

I would just like to compare a few of these to what's listed as enhancements in the interrogatory response at H-7-83.

So your item number 1 under enhancements is increasing the size of the distribution station transformer.  And that strikes us as being the same as item F under the Distribution Code 3.2.30, replacing a transformer to a larger MVA size.  Am I correct that those are the same activities?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then item number 2 on your list "reconductoring an existing line" seems to be the same as item C in the Distribution System Code?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And item 3, your item number 3, modifications to or the addition of voltage regulating equipment is similar to item G, "Upgrading a voltage regulating transformer or station to a larger MVA size."  Is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  With the effect that with things that you've, in this interrogatory response at least, identified as enhancements, the Distribution System Code, the amended one, seems to categorize as -- I think it says connections.  Expansion, sorry.  They have classified them as expansions, with the result that -- well, do you agree with that?

MR. GEE:  I haven't seen or pictured the whole Code.  I have only seen what you have on the screen here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. GEE:  But changes -- my understanding of the Code is that changes to the system upstream from the connection, as we've described, are considered system enhancements.

And the changes in the Code were such that the distributor was to fund those.  We were not to collect them from customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying notwithstanding the inclusion of these examples in the Distribution System Code as being specifically expansion, you seem to be suggesting that under certain circumstances they might be enhancements?

MR. GEE:  I think the issue and problem I have is I haven't -- I haven't seen or read the Code that we're referring to.  You asked me questions on here.  I don't even know where it sits in the Code.  I don't know the context of what else it says at this point, so it is hard for me to tell you how -- our interpretation of the Code, as we understand it, and, in fact, was the specific target of the change that the Board was dealing with, based on customer issues -- refers to the particular bullets that we have aligned here.  I can't see what is upstream.  I haven't seen the Code.  I can't tell you why the reference is that way.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, can I suggest that if Mr. Gee had a chance to look at the Code over the break, I think he might be a little more helpful to the Board?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  Let's do that.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay, why don't we do that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Should I -- I guess I can let you do that over the break.  I don't know what time the break is supposed to be at.

MS. NOWINA:  It is a little early for break.  Can you move to --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can move on.  I have another -- I will follow up on that once you have had a chance to look at the Code.  That's fine.  I will have another question on the Code, so perhaps you might want to look at this question, as well, while you are doing it.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, we will just go another ten minutes, and then we will take a break.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  If my friend could just tell us what sections he is going to go to?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I was just about to.

Can I confirm that in the application, you have assumed that the Distribution System Code changes for both 2010 and 2011, so that the new Distribution Code will affect the 2010 and 2011 test years?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And when you are looking at the Code, you would probably look at section 3.3.4.

MR. GEE:  3.3.4?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I can read it to you now.

3.3.4 says:
~"Section 3.3.3(a) shall not apply to a distributor until the distributor's rates are set based on a cost of service application for the first time following the 2010 rate year."

And I will let you look at it over the break, but I will tell you what I am getting at.  That suggests to me that the new rules won't apply for the 2010 rate year, and that because this application is to be considered before the 2010 rate year, it wouldn't apply to 2011 either.

So perhaps you can -- on the break, you can look at that section and see if you agree with those two propositions.

Then also I will have some follow-up questions, once you have looked at the first issue we were talking about.

MR. GEE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to move to some questions about the smart grid.  Some of this was gone over yesterday, so I am trying to pick only the parts I actually need.

If you could turn up Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 13?  I think Mr. DeVellis took you to this yesterday.  It sets out all of the smart grid capital and OM&A costs for 2010 and 2011.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you had a discussion, I think, with Mr. DeVellis about the $5 million for smart grid studies and $5 million for the smart zone pilot?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that the studies to be undertaken are yet to be determined and are subject to the RFP that has been discussed?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  Actually, I confirmed that was not correct.  The RFP relates to the smart zone pilot.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, staying with the $5 million in studies, I talked to panel 1 about research and development work that was referred to in Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 24.  Did you have a chance to review that part of the transcript?

MR. STEVENS:  I did look at the transcript, but let me just refresh my memory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  If you go to Exhibit H, tab 7-24, and it is over at the second page, at least.  I will give you the exact reference in just a second.  Part (e):
"... proposed Smart Grid spending includes R&D activities.  We anticipate spending $5 M in 2010 and 2011."

I wanted to confirm that this response refers to the same spending that is in the first interrogatory we just talked about, H9, schedule 13.  Is it the same $5 million or is it a different $5 million?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, it is the same 5 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And the discussion I had with panel 1 was whether that research and development -- why it wouldn't be the research and development that's referred to and which companies are advised they shouldn't be undertaking with respect to smart grid in the Board's new guidelines, the G-2009-0087 guidelines that I spoke to them about?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, I recall.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So perhaps you can comment on whether these studies are what should be -- are what is anticipated to be excluded under those guidelines or whether you think, and how you think, they should be included as something that the distributor should be doing?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  I think there is a bit of a nuance between the use of the term "research and development and technical studies".

When we look at, you know, some of the new requirements that are coming our way from a distribution business, you know, specifically distributed generation, there's a number of things that we need to start doing today to prepare for that onslaught, recognizing that new systems and processes won't go in in a day, and we really do have to prepare for what is going to happen a couple of years out.

The smart grid studies are really technical studies to look at some of the devices that could help us mitigate things like reliability and power quality issues around some of the DGs for the benefit of our customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Excuse me.  I take it your position is that those types of research and development activities are not excluded by that section of the --

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.  As I mentioned, we're going to have to prepare -- we're going to have to put in new control room technologies, new processes, and we're going to need to understand how some of these devices in the field actually impact that.

To do that process effectively, which is going to be a multiple-year process, we need to start some of this now to understand the standards, how these things interoperate, what problems they solve and what problems they don't solve.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

With respect to the smart zone OM&A and the $5 million that's budgeted for each of the test years, is that dependent at all on what type of projects are eventually chosen through the RFP process?

MR. STEVENS:  Not in the 2010-2011 period.  Most of the impact that is more uncertain to us will be after we develop business cases in the 2010 and 2011 period for future, more provincial roll-out, which would be 2012 and onward.

The stuff we're looking at doing in 2010 and 2011 we understand pretty well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So notwithstanding the fact that there is an RFP outstanding, I think you are telling me you have -- you basically know what you're doing and it is going to cost $5 million?

MR. STEVENS:  Absolutely.  I mean, the RFP itself, we have developed a very detailed list of requirements that we're expecting vendors to bid on.  We have put in there exactly what we want them to do, by when, and we have outlined it in phases of the project.

So, you know, we've done projects before.  We understand going from requirements to design, to build, to test, to commission, and we've estimated on that basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you can go back to H-9-13?

MR. STEVENS:  I'm there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at the capital that is included in the smart grid project.

Are any of the smart grid-related operating infrastructure projects part of the RFP processes you're using?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have to find activities and plans for the IT spending?  Or is this part of the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  The RFP specifically relates to the smart zone pilot.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  With respect to the smart grid pilots and studies that you listed, can you confirm that the PHEV trial is part of the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  We did put in a PHEV trial in the RFP, but it was really more aligned with assessing the impact of PHEVs on the distribution business as opposed to, you know, going out and buying a bunch of plug in hydro-electric vehicles to see the suitability for Hydro One, as an example.  It is really trying to predict what will be the eventual impact on settlement, what will be the eventual impact on distribution planning, those types of things.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So are the costs and activities with respect to that study still subject to the outcome of the RFP process?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, we understand the questions that we're trying to answer and we have estimated what we thought it would take to get those answers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But they will be finalized after the RFP, costs?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Correct, yes.  We've estimated it based on the best of our ability.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the energy storage pilot study, are they also part of the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  We do have an energy storage requirement inside the RFP.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I want to differentiate just for clarity purposes, this may or may not be helpful but let me try.

There are a number of pilots and studies that were doing, and as I mentioned yesterday, we're going to trial some stuff in the field to see how it interoperates at the local level.  So for example, how we might connect an energy storage device to an existing distribution station.  Inside the smart grid pilot, we're really looking at how we, then, take that technology and make effective use of it in our back office systems operating through the grid control centre, new processes, you know, so it is a little bit different.  It is a broader look at interoperability if you will.  So there is very specific to the location and to the type of technology and then there is the broader people process technology piece which the smart grid pilot is meant to undertake.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Back to the energy storage pilot.

I can't remember if you answered now.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that part of the RFP process?

MR. STEPHENSON:  The piece where we interoperate with the back office systems is part of the smart zone pilot, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And similarly, is the roughly $5 million which is budgeted for the distribution system innovation part of the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No, that's not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No?

Are there specific work plans for that already, then?

MR. STEPHENSON:  There is a number of technologies that are included as part of distribution system innovation, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are they on the record?

MR. STEPHENSON:  The specific technologies that were looked at?  I'm not sure.  I can outline.  There are a couple of things they were looking at is DFAR support, again, supporting distributed generation.  Distribution automation, which really includes things like sectionalizing your reclosing, automated way to improve SAIDI and CAIDI, those types of things.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you file them?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Could we file which?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The work plans supporting the five million dollar expenditure.

MR. STEPHENSON:  We have the estimate here of what that work is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I know you have the estimate.  But presumably the estimate --

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not sure what you mean by work plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I guess it is analogous to the business plan which you would use in other contexts to support the spending.  Right now we have -- we have an estimate of five million dollars annually budgeted for distribution system innovation.

But in terms of --

MR. STEPHENSON:  5.1 and 4.8, correct, that's what you're looking at?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Roughly five million, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you told me that you have a document which describes, in more fulsome detail, what that is and what you -- what that spending is for and what the benefits of that spending are going to be, or anticipated to be.  And I am just asking you to file that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not sure we have a specific document but what we would have had was a number of people looking at what the potential impact of technologies are, drawing on their experience as to what the cost of those technologies might be to deploy in the field.  If you recall yesterday, I said the components of this would be the actual device itself, the cost to install, and the cost to get some technical expertise in to assess potential.

I am not sure if I have an actual document that splits all of that out but we know which technologies we want to look at.

MR. ROGERS:  May I cut this short this little bit.  Maybe the company can give an undertaking just to provide a little back-up detail underlying the 5.1 and 4.8 million dollars.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Is that okay, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be helpful.

I just would have thought that for five million dollars in spending over two years, there would be, for a distinct area of spending, there would be some sort of plan that goes with it.  If it were a capital project, you would have a business case, for example, potentially.

Something similar to that, I understand it would be helpful if they give a description, but if there is anything more concrete than the description that you give in the written undertaking, I would like that to be attached, as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, we will take a look.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  to PROVIDE WORK PLAN SUPPORTING THE $5 million EXPENDITURE

MS. NOWINA:  Are you almost finished this enquiry or should we break?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I was thinking the same thing.  I have two or three questions left and then I can break and move to a new topic.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Moving down the list to capital projects.  Can you confirm that the activities to be undertaken as is part of the smart zone pilot are all to be firmed up by the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it the same with the -- well, firstly, are the system integration and back office systems spending related to the smart zone project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that those costs will also depend on the outcome of the RFP?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  The final costs will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So thank you, so that would be a good time to break.  I only have one real section left, plus following up on the Distribution System Code question.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers, do you need a little bit longer break to deal with the Distribution System Code?

MR. ROGERS:  I don't think so.  I think Mr. Salt did talk about this when he was here, but I think if -- Mr. Gee can probably do this over the break just have a look at the Code.

MS. NOWINA:  We will take 20 minutes, then.

--- Recess taken at 10:20 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:59 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

We apologize for the delay.  There were a lot of things we had to think about.

Mr. Buonaguro, back to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Perhaps we can go back to the Distribution System Code issue while it is fresh in your memory.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is not fresh in my memory.  But I had basically put together a list of things that you had classified as enhancements in an interrogatory response and compared them to examples of what the Distribution System Code at section 3.2.30 talks about as expansions.

We confirmed that the three examples I gave were essentially the same type of work, and I guess it was put to you why the company has them listed as enhancements rather than expansions.

And I think that is where we left it, and you wanted to take a look at the Code so...

MR. GEE:  So just over the break, I haven't been able to get a real good answer where I can refer to the Code on the issue.

What we understand -- what I understand is that with the change in the Code and the amendments that were made, there was also some context and some interpretation on how we were doing it.

Section 3.3.3 changed such that an individual generator being connected was not responsible for renewable energy -- I'm sorry, enhancements.

And the change in the Code was to align that a single load customer coming on wasn't treated significantly different.  That was our understanding of the context.

From that, and the discussions, it was our understanding that those kinds of investments we described should be funded by the distributor.  That is not exactly how I would read the Code as you, but it is an interpretation we got from the change in the process, so we need to go back to the reference materials and why we made the change and why we made the interpretation.  I don't have that here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is that a -- are you offering up an undertaking?

MR. GEE:  I believe I am, because I think we need to explain why we came to the conclusion we did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am content with that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we take an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  J6.5.  Could I have the undertaking restated?  Board Staff may have some questions on this and I just want to be exactly clear what you are undertaking to provide.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I will give it a shot.

You are going to explain how it is that the items listed in Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 83 by the company as being enhancements, or at least why some of those have been labelled "enhancements", whereas under section 3.2.30 similar items are listed as "expansions".  And you are going to explain how you came to that conclusion, even though they're the same types of work.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.5:  TO EXPLAIN THE WHY ITEMS ARE LABELLED "ENHANCEMENTS" IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 83 WHEREAS ITEMS ARE LISTED AS "EXPANSION" IN SECTION 3.2.30 OF SYSTEM DISTRIBUTION CODE.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, let's take a hypothetical and say we were right and that some of the things that you have listed in the application as enhancements are in fact expansions, and my understanding is that that means that you have them in the plan without capital contributions, but in fact they would attract capital contributions; correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If that's the case, then there would be -- well, you haven't calculated the capital contributions and that would affect the revenue requirement associated -- or the capital spending associated with those projects?

MR. GEE:  Right.  The total connection costs would move to less revenue requirement and more capital contributions from individual customers.  The working cost stays the same.

The work would be funded by a capital contribution by individual customers, rather than in revenue requirement.  That would be the impact.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess maybe I will ask it within the same undertaking.

Can you do a calculation of what that impact would be?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  I think it is in the evidence.  We estimated it at $2 million a year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, I see.

So I just want to understand that.  I think I understand, but you're saying you calculated the impact of your interpretation of the Distribution System Code to be about $2 million a year?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If it turns out that you are wrong, that would be a $2 million change?

MR. GEE:  Right.  The revenue requirement would go down, and our planning on capital contributions would correspondingly increase.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, great.

MR. ROGERS:  I would caution we're talking about capital here, Madam Chair, so the effect on the revenue requirement would be less --

MR. GEE:  My apologies.  I am pretending I am a rate maker.  It is capital reduction of 2 million, not OM&A.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But the capital spending --

MR. GEE:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

And then I also referred you to the implementation date section, 3.3.4.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I suggested that the proper reading of that would be that the changes wouldn't apply for at least for your 2010 year, and, based on our reading of that section, wouldn't apply at all to the test years, because it doesn't apply until you make an application after 2010.

MR. GEE:  And I understand that could be the reading of that, and, if that's the case, we're fine.

What you have as an impact is that we would not apply that case for now, but also individual load customers would have to pay the higher contributions that you set.  So as long as we line them up both -- our read was this is the 2010 cost of service ratemaking.  It's going for two years.  We will apply it at this point, and, after 2010, it is in place, but we are fine with however the approach is, as long as we do both sides of it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So my last area of questions is limited to smart meters, so three of you can relax.

And most of it will be referred to through Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 143.  And, yes, we're mostly keying off of the response to (a) here.  Thank you.

Now, I understand that in your last distribution rate case, the company received approval to include in rate base capital spending up to the end of 2007 for both minimum functionality and exceeding minimum functionality; is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That's my recollection, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is EB-2007-0681, and I think it is at page 20 of the decision.

And looking at the interrogatory response, and, specifically, the capital spending under "Exceeding Minimum Functionality" for 2008 is roughly $26 million?

MR. STEVENS:  I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I understand that you are proposing to include this amount in rate base for the purposes of this application?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the capital spending is divided into three categories, all meter installations, MDMR integration and customer information systems?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are the activities and initiatives under each of these categories similar to what took place in 2006 and 2007?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, they are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There is nothing new or exciting in there?

MR. STEVENS:  No, not really.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  It's basically more of the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not to suggest it was exciting in the first place.

MR. STEVENS:  That's my life.  Thank you very much.

[Laughter.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then for 2009 to 2010 under capital, the same question.  Is there any -- your forecasting amounts under capital for exceeding minimum functionality for 2009, 2010, is it the same activities from 2006 and 2007 forecast forward?

MR. STEVENS:  For the capital, in essence, it is, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I will ask it now.  I was going to ask you later, but you mentioned for the capital.  For the OM&A, your answer suggests there is something different being forecast in those years for the OM&A, or was I reading too much into your answer?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  It is just I really don't understand some of the rate adder calculations associated with OM&A, which might be better handled by panel 5.  And that's what I believe -- if I am lining it up correctly, that's what I see that line is.  It is a small amount, but nevertheless...  But I can assure you the activities underlying these amounts are the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see what you're saying.  Thank you.

So in 2007 and 2008 under "Exceeding Minimum Functionality", we notice there is no OM&A spending at all --

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in the table.

MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then -- but in forecast for 2010 and 2011, there is in excess of $7 million in each year?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me why that is?  What is the spending for?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  Because we are bringing in some systems.  So if you recall, the exceeding minimum functionality was around integrating with the MDMR and upgrading the CIS system for advanced meter reading and then also for preparing it for time-of-use rates.

So in 2010 and 2011, those systems will be placed into service and we will begin to start maintaining them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me see if I understand.  It appears in capital for 2006 and 2007 because you were paying for them in the meter?  The capital part of it?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  In 2006, 2007, we're actually building the systems, right, and then they go into service and then we start maintaining them after that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's fine.

I was just trying to understand why the OM&A shows up and I think I understand now.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So then -- okay, that's fine.

Could you describe the activities included under MDMR?

MR. STEVENS:  Under MDMR integration; correct?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  So if you recall, and this is going back to I think the combined proceeding, we actually kind of mapped out how the systems integrate with each other, so we have an advanced meeting infrastructure structure or smart metering system that, you know, needs to be synchronized and send daily reads into the IESO's MDMR or smart meter entity's MDMR, and then we pull that billing, we pull billing data out of that based on time-use increments.  So the work associated with MDMR integration is building those interfaces for synchronization and all of the daily transactions of data that goes back and forth.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So is it anything more than having your equipment interact with the IESO?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  There is another aspect to it.  So when we actually start operating in that manner, I think I mentioned maybe last time around, we'll be dealing with approximately 35 million transactions on a daily basis when things go well.  There will be a number of reports that come out of the MDM as well that basically describe some of the instances you may have had in terms of the daily transactions, so we're actually building some functionality to automate the consumption of those reports, automate data coming out of some of our other systems so that we can basically triage the information to deal with the exceptions, whether it is, you know, could be as simple as just changing a meter because it is not working any more or it could be rolling up to maybe you've got a problem with a collector or a number of other reasons.  So there's some automation being built.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is all of that activity why this category of spending is in the exceeding minimum functionality category?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under WiMax, we see that there is no spending for the years 2007 to 2010, but then roughly 13.5 million in 2011.   Could you just explain why that is?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  So the way our deployment has been going -- let me step back for a second.  The collectors that we're putting in, if you recall, collectors gather up the meter data and we backhaul it.  We have been deploying in areas up until this point where we have a contract with Bell Canada and they're CMA provider, so they can backhaul that data.  We are getting to points in the province where you know Bell does not provide coverage nor does Rogers nor does Telus.

So our plan at this point in time is to deploy WiMax to backhaul in those situations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Lastly, looking at H-1-43 which we are.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, which number?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Same exhibit.  I am unfortunately talking to myself there for a second.

Looking at the 2009 forecast, if you go down to the annual total you will see 181,410.

MR. STEVENS:  181,410,000, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And my understanding is that you can find the total capital spending by deducting out the OM&A line of 14.7 million, which gives you a total of 166,710,000 for capital spending in 2009?

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that right?  Or can you take that subject to check?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so if you want to do similar for 2010 and 2011, you would take the -- for example, you would take the 2010 figure of 125,238,000 and you would back out the 15.4 million and the 6.7 million in OM&A.

And similarly for 2011 you would take the 66.6 million and back out the 15.4 million and the 6.95 million of OM&A.

And perhaps you can make a note that -- and take it subject to check, that shows me that the forecast capital spending for 2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively is 166.7 million, 103.1 million, and 51.2 million.

Will you take those subject to check?

MR. STEVENS:  I would have thought the capital in 2011 would have been closer to 44 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Sixty-six minus roughly 22.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  What was your rough estimate, 44?

MR. STEVENS:  Forty-four.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, we will take that.

Now, with those figures in mind, we can turn up Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 3, page 9.  And your correction may have helped me on this.

MR. STEVENS:  Which page, I'm sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 9.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This is the smart meter adder calculation, I believe.

Now, if we're looking at the OM&A costs for 2010 and 2011 as they appear in this page, we get the same OM&A costs that were in the previous exhibit.

Do you see that?

MR. STEVENS:  I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But when we look at the resulting capital spending, I think we get different numbers.  So for 2009, we get the 2009 value, in this table of 142.7 million versus 166.7 million, after I did my calculation backing out the OM&A from the previous exhibit.

Do you see that?

MR. STEVENS:  I see it is listed as capital data.  What I am not sure if it's referring to in-service additions or actual capital expenditures.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  We're looking at the adder, we're looking at the page on its face that says, Total capital costs, 142 million.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The OM&A figures actually match up on a line-by-line basis and that the capital numbers don't.  We don't have to spend all day on this.

MR. STEVENS:  As you would expect, right, if it's in-service additions versus capital expenditures, you would expected them to be different but you would expect the OM&A, which is a period expenditure, would be the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the answer is in there somewhere.  You say you wouldn't expect the -- could you explain that part why you wouldn't expect the capital numbers to line-up?

MR. STEVENS:  Because not all of the capital expenditures may actually go into service in any given year, right, it could actually carry over a year, but I would actually defer that response to panel 5, if you wouldn't mind.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can defer it or we can do it by way of undertaking.  I don't have to ask it again, if they want to check --

MR. STEVENS:  They prepared this table so they may be able to just answer it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's fine.  I can do that.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. Warren.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, just on that last point, while panel 5 is preparing.  If you could ask them to, in that connection, to take a look at Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 43, which is an interrogatory from my client in which they asked for smart meter, OM&A and capital costs, and if you look at the 2009 forecast figure, you will see that Mr. Buonaguro's 166 million appears on that schedule as well.

So I will ask that panel for the reconciliation, but just so that they have all of the data in front of them that they can do the reconciliation.

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I would like to start very briefly on smart grid, and I should preface this question with an apology.

I've gone over the transcript yesterday, but not with, as they say, the granularity required, so the answer to this question may be there and it may be in the answers to Mr. Buonaguro.  But what I would like you to do, if you wouldn't mind, if it hasn't already been done, if you take our client's interrogatory Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 13, that breaks out -- you dealt with that earlier, panel.  It breaks out the OM&A and capital costs for the smart grid.

I know that you answered some of these questions for Mr. Buonaguro, and, again, I apologize if it has been covered.  I wonder if you could, perhaps by way of undertaking, take that exhibit and indicate which of the items on it are subject to the RFP?

I know you have indicated some of them, but could you do that in a comprehensive way, please?

MR. STEVENS:  I believe we could provide an estimate for that, but I can point you to the items that are labelled smart zone pilot, so there is really only two sections that are within the document, both capital and OM&A.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  What about system integration?

MR. STEVENS:  Oh, I'm sorry, yes.  So smart zone pilot, system integration, back office systems all fall within the smart zone pilot.

MR. WARREN:  If I go down to the OM&A, it would just be the smart zone pilot category that's within the RFP?

MR. STEVENS:  The 5 million and 5 million, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that.

Now, my other questions relate to smart meter.  And in that connection, if you could turn up, again, the interrogatory response that I referred to earlier, which is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 43?

MR. STEVENS:  I'm there.

MR. WARREN:  Would I be right, panel, if I were to add up for the years 2006 actuals through forecast 2011, when I add up the total OM&A I get some $76.3 million?

When I add up the total smart meter capital costs, I get some 505.5 million.

Would I be right, subject to your checking my math, panel, that in the period from 2006 actual through 2011 forecast, Hydro One will have spent or forecast spending some $582 million on smart meters?

MR. STEVENS:  Subject to check, I will take your math as correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And am I right, panel - correct me, please, if I am wrong - that the capital costs for smart meters are not included in the forecast capital spending for 2010, 2011?

MR. STEVENS:  They're being handled through the rate adder.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  If I were to then -- what I am trying to do, panel -- and there is no magic to this, as painful as it may sound coming from my lips.  What I am trying to do is get a sense of the total capital spending in 2010, 2011 for Hydro One Networks.

Now, you weren't here, but we went through a drill, which you will find at various places on the record over the last several days, that the total capital spending includes two categories up to now.

There's the capital spending in respect of which Hydro One is seeking to recover rates as part of this application.  There's the capital spending, the cost of which will be recovered through other mechanisms, whether it is a global adjustment or whatever.

And when the totals for that -- for those two categories were added together - again, this is on the record - for 2010, the total capital spending was some 716 million, and for 2011 it was some 838 million.

What I wanted to do, then, is to see if I should add to those figures what you are going to be spending on smart meters.  Is that fair of me to do that?

MR. STEVENS:  I am not sure the references you made of the 800 and 700 million.  Those are not familiar to me at all.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that, because they're not in the record.  They're additions that we did.  Can you take it, subject to check, panel, we did those additions?  They have been put to earlier members, earlier panel members.

MR. ROGERS:  I can instruct the witness that they're generally correct, and we can carry on on that basis.

MR. STEVENS:  For smart meters?

MR. WARREN:  What I wanted to know is whether or not...

MS. NOWINA:  No, just capital spending.

MR. ROGERS:  Total.  Total distribution and green energy capital spend.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, I thought you were talking about smart meters.

MR. ROGERS:  That's because you're the smart meter man.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren is going to get there eventually.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  I'm certainly not the smart man.

MR. STEVENS:  We are talking about the Green Energy Plan now; is that correct?

MR. WARREN:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  What I want to get to is do I understand it directionally that to those categories of capital spending, in order for us to understand the total amount that will be spent on capital by Hydro One Networks in 2010, 2011, we should add the capital spending on smart meters; is that fair?

MR. STEVENS:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the -- has Hydro One Networks at any point, or can you do it now -- through 2011, have you calculated the total -- the cost per customer of the smart meter program?

MR. STEVENS:  On an annual basis or an aggregate?

MR. WARREN:  Aggregate basis through 2011.

MR. STEVENS:  Bear with me for a second, because I think there is an interrogatory on that.

So if I could take you, quickly, to Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 143?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Page 3 of 4.  For 2011, it shows 494.51, so that is all smart meter and related spending.  So it is meters plus back office systems, et cetera.

MR. WARREN:  Is that just 2011?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  I believe that one is the actual cumulative amount.

MR. WARREN:  Cumulative amount.  Okay, thanks.

One -- two final questions.  First is:  Do the smart meter costs of the OM&A costs include the customer education and information costs?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, they would.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And my final question is:  You are proposing a rate adder for 2010, 2011.  Given the overall costs of the smart meter program, do you have any indication of how long a rate adder will be charged in order to cover the costs of it?  How long can we look forward to having a rate adder for smart meter costs?

MR. STEVENS:  I think I will have to defer that one to panel 5, if you don't mind.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am not sure if I will finish by noon, but we will see where we get and I will see if it has to carry over past lunch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.

I have a number of areas to go over with you.  I will start with a topic that we've heard a lot about already, but I think could probably use a little more discussion, and that is the Green Energy Plan and how the costs are captured in your capital and O&M budgets and to what extent they also appear in the Green Energy Plan itself.

I thought what might be helpful, at least from our perspective, would be to run through an actual concrete example.  We've been talking about different pieces in isolation.  I thought maybe I could put an example to you and get a sense for what the costs might be and to what extent they are reflected in the Green Energy Plan, or not.

So the example I would like to give you is a fairly straightforward one.  Imagine there is a new enabling line from an existing station to a new distributed renewable generation, so clearly a Green Energy Plan type of an investment.

And I would like to run through the various costs that would arise from this type of investment and get your views as to whether or not they are reflected in the Green Energy Plan itself, or if they are outside the Green Energy Plan.  I guess the way we've been describing them has been an indirect Green Energy Plan cost.

So let me start with the capital costs of the wires and poles themselves.  I think that is a fairly simple one.  I assume that those are capital costs that are included in the Green Energy Plan itself.  Would I be right in that assumption?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What about the operations and maintenance development expenses?  By those, I mean the costs the company incurs to plan the line, the site of the line and all of that associated background work that goes into the installation of a new distribution line.

Would that be included in the O&M costs for the Green Energy Plan?  Or would that be what you count as an indirect cost?

MR. GEE:  So you have used a couple of different wording there that maybe a little different.  The actual planning of the line, the site-specifics, the costs -- I'm sorry, the site specific locations, the design criteria for the line, are part of the capital costs in that case.  It is not the OM&A.

MR. MILLAR:  Are those capitalized overheads?

MR. GEE:  No.  They are part of the design work that would be part of a construction piece.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't --

MR. GEE:  So --

MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead.

MR. GEE:  This is very project-specific, line going from A to B, we having to have field -- engineering staff, technicians decide where the line will be located, where poles will be, the size and design criteria of that are all engineering and design costs that are capitalized, specifically to that project.  They would be in the capital costs.

MR. MILLAR:  So those are not a development cost?

MR. GEE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GEE:  Well, development capital cost?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GEE:  Yes.  Not a development OM&A costs, which I believe you said.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So those costs that we've just discussed are capitalized and are included in the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Just to follow-up on that point.  In discussions, I think it was with you, but I may be mistaken, there was a reference to certain indirect costs of the Green Energy Plan and I recall that I think you indicated that for indirect costs for development O&M, there was approximately 2.5 to three million that's attributable to the Green Energy Plan.  First of all, have I got that right?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And what are those costs, then, these development O&M costs?

MR. GEE:  So they would be the costs that we would use to develop construction standards, material specifications that would be required.

So we described the example of field engineering staff making those design decisions.  What they're using is standards and material specifications that have been created.

And it is the creation of those standards and specifications that will be used that is the development OM&A.

Those standards and specifications include requirements for handling generation as a complexity but also includes, you know, new material, new equipment, new ESA issues, so they cover the gamut of things you need to do when you update your specifications and standards.  They are then applied on the construction by piece.

MR. MILLAR:  Would I be right these wouldn't be project-specific costs?  These are overall development costs?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's right.  They're part of us building up our library of material specs and standards that we use day-to-day.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Then the direct costs I've got to stop using the words indirect and direct except when I mean it in the since the company talks about it, but development costs that you incur for specific projects, those would capitalized?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the -- let's say you are building this line.  You have your own folks or you contract this out, I'm not sure, but you have workers actually installing the lines.

Am I right that that is a capitalized overhead?

MR. GEE:  The people actually building the line are direct capital costs.  They are the capital numbers sitting there.  They're not in overheads.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe I am using the wrong term.  But it is capital.

MR. GEE:  It is capital, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Even though you might ordinarily treat workers' time as an O&M expense this is a salary here it is, capitalized.

MR. GEE:  We use the workers' time in all cases if they're doing capital work, that time goes against the capital.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GEE:  Work.  If they're doing OM&A expense, it goes in as OM&A.  So same treatment.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  These capitalized costs are included in your Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, there would be other maybe I am using the word "overheads" wrong, but there would be other costs associated with building a specific line, for example, there might be some legal work that has to be done, any number of other things management time might be directed to a specific project.

How were these costs accounted for?

MR. GEE:  So in general, each case has its own rule but generally they would be an overhead cost.

And they can come in two ways -- I'm sorry, there is different methodologies for allocating overheads that we probably don't need to get into it, but those would typically be an overhead cost and thus some of those would be de.

MR. MILLAR:  Some of them?

MR. GEE:  We would use the methodology to determine the overhead rate, however that's done, and apply it as appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent that that is capitalized, that does show up in your Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, once the line is up and running, it's been installed, maybe not so much in the first year, but going forward there would be O&M maintenance costs associated with that facility; is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And my understanding is for the test years, those costs wouldn't be particularly significant; is that fair?

MR. GEE:  I believe what we've said in the evidence is that we have not included any ongoing OM&A costs for the expansion for -- the requirement to connect generators because of -- at this point, we don't have a clear view and it is really at early stages so we have not included it at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  And going forward, will those become part of the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  I am probably not the best person to answer it, but it is my understanding that we've said if they become significant, we're going to need to look at how best to -- how best to fund them with the various funding scenarios we have.  So we haven't put something, proposed something at this time, but they will need to be considered in future once we understand them better.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent that there are any of these costs in the test years, you're not seeking recovery from those through the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  No.  No, I don't know, and it was my understanding there are none ongoing operations costs in the test years for those lines.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact I don't know what your practices are, but I would assume every year at least you would have someone walk down the line to take a look.

MR. GEE:  Again, what I believe has happened is that we are expecting to have new lines built, how many more we have.  We haven't yet captured you no he in our 120,000 kilometres of lines are we going to have two more kilometres or 1,000 more kilometres?  We don't know the materiality yet.

So, if in fact we end up with a whole lot of kilometres in areas where we don't serve customers, we're going to have an issue that we have not yet included in the plan because we don't have good information on it.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent any of these costs do exist in the test years, they're not part of the Green Energy Plan, they would just be part of your regular O&M budget.

MR. GEE:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They're not attributed to the Green Energy Plan.

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it it is fair to say going forward in future Green Energy Plan filings, this may be more of an issue.

MR. GEE:  Yes, it will be an issue we have to decide in future, including what is the appropriate customer grouping to recover the cost, so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GEE:  Having said that, the Green Energy panel would do a better job than me at explaining it so that is my attempt at it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  I have gone over the costs that immediately came to mind for me.

Are there any other costs either direct or indirect associated with the specific project that I am missing, that either are capitalized or are considered indirect costs?

MR. GEE:  Well, a couple more examples that we talked about here is an example of -- that line that now has been connected with a generator on it now needs to have operator control.  We talked a little bit about why you would need that.  So we would have additional operators in the OGCC required to operate that line.

Now, they are what we termed as indirect in Mr. Van Dusen's guesstimate, because that line may serve our other customers and what they do day-to-day gets interwoven day-to-day.

Another example is the one Mr. Adams talked about as indirect, is around settlements and some of the other pieces where, you know, you now have those issues to deal with but again just look like every day daily work.  So two more examples I believe we talked about.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I went over that, I think, with Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So I understand the company's position on that.

MR. GEE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Any other costs I need to consider?

MR. GEE:  I think they're the ones that I am probably in the best position to talk about.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I did go over this with panel 1 as well so I appreciate that there may be other things but I had my chance with that panel, and if we missed anything, there we are.

I have some -- I would like to follow up quickly on a point Mr. Buonaguro made and this relates to the DSC.

I think he covered most of the things that I had intended but if I could ask Mr. Thiessen to pull up the DSC, section 3.3.3 and 3.3.4.  There it is.  My questions relate solely to implementation.

As I understand it, the company essentially assumed that the amendments to the DSC would apply for both the 2010 and 2011 rate years; is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  As Mr. Buonaguro pointed out, there is a couple of ways you might read 3.3.4, and I believe you agreed with him that to the extent the Board determines that a different interpretation is appropriate, you would have to make some, what sounded to be relatively minor changes to your application?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I am hoping to get an undertaking but it may not be necessary.

What I thought I heard you say was, if the new DSC amendments do not apply for 2010, that would lead to a reduction in $2 million in capital spending; is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  Let me just find the reference in the evidence for you.

So D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 5, in the third paragraph we describe the change, and, yes, it shows $2 million in capital contributions.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could I have the reference again?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  D1, tab 3, schedule 3, page 5.  And in the third paragraph, we show the differences in capital contributions.  And, yes, you are correct it is $2 million.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there would be an associated revenue requirement impact on that.  I am not sure what that is, and I take it you are not sure either?

MR. GEE:  No.  But, again, if I made a mistake before, it is a capital reduction, so the revenue requirement is based on capital spending.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be the same figures for 2011, more or less?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So depending on what the Board may decide with implementation, I think we have the numbers now that we would need to calculate that.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

Moving on to O&M expenses, I will start with a question I originally asked of panel 1 and they flipped it to you.

Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 7?  I'm sorry, let me first ask you to turn to page 17 of the Green Energy Plan, and that's I believe Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1.

I'm sorry, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2.  My apologies.

MR. GEE:  A-14, schedule 2?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GEE:  Do you have a page?

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes.  Page 17.

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And I am not sure if you had a chance to review the transcript or if you were listening in, but just to give you the high-level overview, apparently as a result of the Green Energy Plan, you're going to be replacing certain assets prematurely, and amongst those assets will be poles.

MR. GEE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you understand that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I took panel 1 to -- I don't know whether you need to turn this up, but it is at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 7, a chart showing the condition of your poles that I think panel 2 -- in fact, you have seen this chart with Mr. Stephenson's cross-examination --

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- I believe.  Just to summarize that, it shows that 93 percent of your poles are currently in very good condition.  Do you recall that?

MR. GEE:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  My question to panel 1 was presumably a good number of the poles that you are replacing, in fact reflected in your application -- but a good number of the poles you are reflecting prematurely will still have -- will not be at the end of their useful life; you would agree with that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That was a long-winded way to get at my question, which is:  What are you doing with those poles?

MR. GEE:  Sure.  So we have a strategic sourcing arrangement with the pole vendors.  Poles are a critical asset.  Part of that arrangement includes returning back used poles that we have.

Part of that is that pole treatments have the potential, if handled improperly, to cause environmental hazards.  As an example, people will take the poles and use them to nail a dock, while we really don't want the treated poles in the water.

So to help manage that, we push them back to the pole vendor in all cases.  Our overall -- and he has a requirement in our contract to deal with them in an environmental manner and get any unused value out of them.  So it is reflected in our overall item of pricing.

And it really saves us from a rather complicated and convoluted process of trying to have some used poles in our yards; when we use them, what do we charge customers as a capital contribution if it is used?

We now have a different book value.  How do we handle capitalization?  All of that starts to be almost impossible to handle, if you were to do it locally.  So we have just moved them back and dealt with them in a whole supply chain means.

MR. MILLAR:  So you don't reuse the poles yourselves?

MR. GEE:  Typically not.  To say never, there may be an example where it has come up with the right answer, but that's not what we do.

MR. MILLAR:  You return them to the vendor?  Did I get that correctly?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure I understood exactly, but do I take it you get some sort of credit for returning those?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  In the contract, he knows he is getting poles back in various states, because it is not the only work we will do that we will have poles that are retired prematurely.

Having to do a system capability upgrade for a new -- well, that's not what we're talking about.  Load customer would be the same example.  We have to put in higher poles.  We have to do it prematurely; a road relocation.

So it is not something fundamentally different we do.  It is all incorporated into the supply contract.

MR. MILLAR:  So this credit would reduce your ongoing pole replacement cost; is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes, yes.  To the extent there was a value in the marketplace, we would get that benefit to our price.

MR. MILLAR:  I suspect you don't have the number in the prefiled evidence?

MR. GEE:  I don't have it nor do I necessarily know how easy that would be to get, as far as the contract.

MR. MILLAR:  I appreciate that might be difficult.  Would you have a ballpark figure in mind?  Are we talking $1,000 or $1 million or $10 million?

MR. GEE:  It would only be my opinion, based on the business here, but it would be my suggestion that there is very little value of a pole that even has been used ten years and has 30 years left.  When you start to consider the handling costs of us getting it out of the ground, getting it to a supplier, him setting it aside, him finding the right buyer for it, all of those issues.

I would suggest that the real value in this is the proper environmental handling of these and not a cost issue, would be the real value.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the savings would be, if I could summarize, not much?

MR. GEE:  That would be my opinion.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent that there are savings, these are reflected in your application?  It is part of your pole replacement costs?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  So the price of poles we get is part of -- is part of how we estimate the work, and it would be included.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

Sticking with poles, but on a slightly different topic, could I ask you to turn up D1, tab 2, schedule -- sorry, D1 -- I am getting my references wrong.

D2, tab 2, schedule 3 --

MR. GEE:  D2?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and at the end of that schedule there are a number of investment summary documents.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am looking, in particular, at S-7.  I think S is the first series.  Yes, we have it on the --

MR. GEE:  I don't have that.

MR. MILLAR:  You have seen this table before, I take it?  In fact, it may have been called up by you.

MR. GEE:  I'm not...

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.

MR. GEE:  Is that...

MR. MILLAR:  Investment summary document S7.

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And this is -- the investment name here is "Trouble Calls and Storm Damage", and you will see a chart down towards the bottom.

Just by high-level overview, I take it you see on the left-hand side of the chart "Poles Replaced (Units)".  These are poles that you have to replace on an emergency basis, if I can call it that way, based on storm damage or maybe an accident or something like that, but an unexpected pole replacement?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you give the numbers there, for a variety of years.  First, for 2009, the forecast is 1,350.  We're almost at the end of 2009 now.  Do you happen to know where you are tracking as far as actuals go?

MR. GEE:  I don't have the actual forecast on a unit basis for those, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the forecast is here.

MR. GEE:  If I may, what might be helpful is the 2009 plan number that we have used, when it was generated, we were using historical information.  I think I described that process previously.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GEE:  From the time we've generated that plan number, we have actually started to see a decrease in the requirements for pole replacements.

And we believe that's part of our maintenance program, our sustainment capital replacements, and, thus, you see in future years we have adjusted downwards for where we're going.  So if the 2009 number looks out compared to '8, I think it is because of the timing of when that forecast was set.

MR. MILLAR:  When was the forecast set?

MR. GEE:  So in -- it might have been in 2007.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, it is that old?

MR. GEE:  If you go through an investment planning cycle and you are starting to generate it, at least 2007 actuals are the ones that are driving it.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. GEE:  Sorry, in much the same way we're forecasting some numbers for 2011 and it is 2009 today, you know, similar kind of time frames.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide -- I don't know if you have the information with you, but by way of undertaking would you be able to tell me the 2009 number to date?

MR. GEE:  Yes, I could.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  J6.6, and that is to provide the number of poles replaced for trouble calls and storm damage for 2009 to date.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  to PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF POLES REPLACED FOR TROUBLE CALLS AND STORM DAMAGE FOR 2009, TO DATE

MR. GEE:  Perhaps to Q...

MR. MILLAR: I guess the most up-to-date figure you have.

MR. GEE:  A question of audibility and, you know, potential numbers versus finalized, Q3 would be best.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fair enough.  The best information you can give me would be helpful.

Again, if you look at the poles replaced units, 2006 and 2007, I see they're about just over 1300.

Then a big drop in 2008 and then I guess after that is based on forecasts.

Can you tell me why 2006 and 2007 were particularly high?  Or conversely, if that is not the case, why 2008 was particularly low?

MR. GEE:  So my categorization is that 2006 and 2007 have been the historical numbers that we've seen.

2008, we have a lower number that we've materialized and it is what we would have expected to see at some time.  I think we have made some very good investments in pole replacement over the years, and we would have expected to see less than needed on an emergency basis.

The 2008 number, to be honest, looks too good to be true.  I think that is quite a change in one year.

So again, I think our methodology of using a weighted historical average tries to handle that, the more current years having more weight.  And we're starting to see, we're forecasting the decrease going forward.

MR. MILLAR:  And the forecast you said, is it a simple weighted average?  Or how do you arrive at the totals for 2010 and 2011, the forecasts?

MR. GEE:  It is a four-year weighted average that we use.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GEE:  With adjustments for known events.

MR. MILLAR:  What do you mean by that?

MR. GEE:  Well, if we knew something funny happened, it's a bit like the example I used in the storm damage where 2006 and 2008 for the OM&A allowance, we did not use the numbers full out.  They were too high.  We thought they were extreme years so we adjust them down to the maximum of other years.

So we don't want to it blindly include something that just doesn't make sense.  So we will use that judgment, but we are trying to use a methodology here because we are trying to forecast the future.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't wish to belabour this point much more, but one more question.

MR. GEE:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Are any of those events accounted for in the four-year weighted average used for 2010-2011, or is it a simple four-year weighted average?

MR. GEE:  I believe it is a four-year weighted average.  I don't have the details specifically.  I haven't seen any notes that there is any adjustments.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Moving to another area.  Sticking with this S7 document.  If you look at the investment summary, one of the things we see here, the fourth bullet point I think is submarine and underground cable failures and problems.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Down on the chart showing the costs, how would this be reflected?  Is that equipment replaced units?  Is that where submarine cables would be found?

MR. GEE:  The submarine cable replacements isn't necessarily a case where we count units.

We will have funding, we will have an account to collect that and know what we spend.  But in our accomplishments, we don't track the exact number of those and report it for accomplishment purposes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you track the spending?  I assume that is part of this storm damage -- the storm damage number includes submarine and underground cable failures and problems or does it not?

MR. GEE:  I would say it does not.  I would say when you started to look at the cost elements, there would be a line item for that item that would not be -- be the same as the units for poles or equipment.  There would be another group to handle this.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there an easy way to get at that number or can you at least tell me what line item it would appear in?

MR. GEE:  So what we have is at the bottom chart, we have a capital spending level --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GEE:  -- with net capital.  And you will see that that will be made up of the storm damage number and equipment replaced units, we show units, not dollars here.  We show poles, units not dollars.  And there would be another category for items that don't fit into, are not a storm event.  Don't -- aren't a pole and don't fit into equipment.  We would have another catch-all that would handle any of those activities where a unit isn't that meaningful for planning purposes.

They would all total to the number at the bottom.

MR. MILLAR:  So the net capital would include the --

MR. GEE:  Yes, the net capital does include it.

MR. MILLAR:  And the very highest level, are you able to give me a ballpark figure of what even on a percentage -- a general percentage basis what portion of that is made up of the submarine cables?


MR. GEE:  I would probably do a lousy job of it, but I would say it is like two to five million.  It is not big compared to storm and where we're going.  I would say that is an order of magnitude.

MR. MILLAR:  Have those costs been relatively constant, say, from 2006 to the best of your knowledge?

MR. GEE:  I would say we have seen an increasing amount of submarine cable problems.  I think when you look at the asset condition or demographics of subcables, it is one of those items to be expected.

Having seen that trend, I think we describe where we started to put in a proactive inspection and testing program and trying to deal with those more proactively.

And that is a result of the increasing failures we have seen over time.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you give me a sense -- is it a big increase in the numbers of failures and the costs?  Is it something more modest?  You indicated something like two to five million in the 2010 year.

Is that double what it used to be?  Or is it a more modest increase?

MR. GEE:  I thought I might have a reference based on the failure rate, but I don't.

I would say we have been seeing something in the order of 15 to 20 percent increase in the number of failures in the subplace, but again that's an estimate, not an opinion here.

MR. MILLAR:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I do have more questions on, if you can believe it, on submarine and underground cable issues but I am not sure if we have to stop immediately at 12:00 today.  If that is the case, I am moving to a slightly different angle on this issue.  I could break now or I could try and finish up with submarine cables which is another ten minutes, perhaps.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we break now and we will just all hold our breath to hear the next questions after lunch.

And the other thing I would ask people to consider is that at the end of the day today, I would like a very serious discussion about the remainder of this week and how the schedule is going to go.  Not putting aside the cost of capital issue, but for the panels that we have planned for this week.  I would like to get a sense of the schedule, all right.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I know that -- I apologize.  I know you said this morning you might possibly have some comments on the cost of capital issue this afternoon.

I apologize.  I can't be here this afternoon.  I have another engagement which is pressing.

But Mr. Buonaguro will be here and in the event you need responses from the group that I represent --

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  I may or may not, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  No, I appreciate that.  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  We are now adjourned until one o'clock.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:09 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Just a few I would like to deal with, if I could, Madam Chair, just housekeeping matters.  I have some further undertakings to file, if I could do it now before I forget again.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  We have for filing and distribution, first of all, Exhibit JX4.1.  That was the confidential matter, as well as a summary of undertaking to accompany that.

I am also filing J4.2, J4.3, J4.5, J4.7, and I'm sorry this is out of order, J4.6, which is the update, by the way, of the debt portion of the cost of capital based on your recent report.

Thank you very much.  May I say, as well, just while I have my microphone on, there are a few transcript corrections, very few.  There are two, I think, that I propose to just file in writing tomorrow morning.

My practice is that -- with your approval, to file them in writing so they can appear in the transcript.  If anything of real importance is to be changed, I will let you know.  There is a couple, though, where a "no" was left out of the answer, so it is the reverse.  That's why we're making the change.  It may have been the witness, not the reporter, too, I should acknowledge.

MS. NOWINA:  While we're discussing transcript, Mr. Rogers, what about the changes based on the ruling yesterday?  Are there any changed based on that?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I gave that to Mr. Millar yesterday.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, he did.  I apologize, Madam Chair.  I do have the list of all the proposed redactions, and I neglected to give that to you.  So perhaps we can deal with that at the break.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we will do that.  They don't tell me anything, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am kind of in the same position.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That's it?

Mr. Millar, do you want to continue?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar (continued):

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  You will be happy to hear that my fellow Staff members have convinced me to abandon my crusade against submarine cables and their associated costs, so I will move on to some, perhaps, more exciting items.

I would like to move on to the OM&A budgets, if I could.

First, I would ask you -- just to frame this issue, to provide you the numbers, the reference here is C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, but I don't think you need to turn it up.  I am just discussing the numbers in your O&M budget.

For 2010 and 2011, I understand the proposed budgets are 560 million and 575.2 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have the chart.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In fact, while we're here, why don't we pull it up?

Then for 2008, your actuals were 471.3 million; is that right?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I understand it's not in this reference, but I think Board-approved was 466 million.  Can you take that subject to check?

MR. GEE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So you overspent a little bit on that item?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Your increases, I think it is fair to say, are fairly significant, whether you go by Board approved or actuals.  Board approved in 2010 were approximately a 20 percent increase, and even if you use actuals, it is something a bit less than that, but I don't think there is any dispute these are fairly significant increases.  Would you agree with that?

MR. GEE:  Yes, I would.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn to Board Staff IR number 14?  That's Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 14.

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  In this interrogatory, Staff asked you to make some assumptions, essentially, that your O&M budget was limited to inflationary increases.  We suggest 3 percent - I think the actual rate of inflation, depending on which measure you choose, is actually a little bit lower than that - and asked you how you would accommodate these types of cuts.

I guess you declined to answer the question directly, if I can put it that way; is that fair?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You declined to do what we asked you to do.  You answered the question, but didn't provide us the information we asked for?

MR. GEE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Essentially, if I could paraphrase - and feel free to add to this, if you would like - you reference your business values and essentially state that this is the required spending and this is what we have to spend.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. GEE:  Not completely.  I'd say that what we're really saying is we have presented a number of pressing issues on the business, including additional generation to support the Green Energy Plan, new environmental legislation, a vegetation management program, with increasing accomplishments that we have been presenting to the Board since 2006.

And we think these are all prudent, planned to appropriately mitigate the risk that we have and deal with the issues we have, and, thus, if that's not the plan that the Board wants to approve, we would be looking for some direction on:  Where is the additional risk we should be taking?  And I think that is the piece that is missing here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That was going to be my follow-up question, in fact.



Obviously, the company recognizes the Board may choose to make certain cuts to certain areas in O&M, and I guess what you're telling me is that you would be seeking the Board's guidance with regard to what programs you might have to cut?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, often the Board approves an envelope amount for O&M, as I think you are aware.  If the Board were to do something like that, can you tell me what types of things you would look at cutting first?

MR. GEE:  I can't tell you right now.  What we would really do is we would go back and have to update the prioritization process, look at the risk issues, look at constraints and commitments that have been made since the plan was put forward, look at how we would redo our plans for future and how we would handle that.

So it would be an evolved process that we would have to go through before we would say this is what we would reduce.

MR. MILLAR:  You haven't done that analysis upfront?

MR. GEE:  No, we have not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to get a bit more into depth with some specific expenses.

First, can I ask you to turn to Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 15?  That's Board Staff 15.  And in that interrogatory we asked you to provide data, both in an amount spent and a percentage increase form, relating to your OM&A per customer and your OM&A per circuit kilometre.

Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  You did provide us with that data.  And if we look, for example, at OM&A per customer, and underneath that is variances per customer, so the percentage increase or decrease over the years.

I see for 2008 you have actually got a slight decrease.  These would be actuals.  2009, these would be starting as forecast.  I think you have increases of a fairly big jump of 10 percent and 5.2 percent for 2010, and then a more modest increase for 2011.

Similarly, if you look at OM&A per circuit kilometre, again, 2009 a fairly significant jump of over 10 percent, and, similarly, for the following two years, about just under 5 percent and just over 1 percent.  Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you help me out with this trend here?  I see, in every year, particularly in 2009, there is a very significant jump, but the increases keep coming.

What is driving these per customer cost, additional costs?

MR. GEE:  Well, I think as we've laid out in our evidence for this filing, and what we explained in 2008, is there are increased costs to deal with generation being connected to the distribution system.

We have increases in vegetation management program that we provided evidence for and talked about in previous plans that are increasing our OM&A costs, very much with a target to improve reliability and reduce future costs.

We have targeted investments to improve reliability around additional maintenance and, again, looking at the reliability performance and trying to improve it.

So each one of the increases have been -- we have attempted to clearly articulate why and what are the benefits we're getting.  I'm sorry, another one I should throw in there is the new legislation on PCB -- moving PCBs from the system.

So all those items that we have talked about as a need for the system, when they work themselves through, are reflected in these increases.

MR. MILLAR:  Some might suggest -- not me in particular, of course, but some might suggest that the company is having some difficulties in keeping a lid on their O&M costs, and, in fact, this reflects that the company is getting less efficient in its management of O&M expenses.

How would you respond to that?

MR. GEE:  I would disagree with that.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it just for the reasons you have already outlined?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  I think what we've talked about a fair bit is a rather rigorous investment planning and business planning process that looks at the risks that are happening to the system, the risks in the system, the aging infrastructure that we're dealing with, new requirements around generation, new environmental legislation, and I don't think any of those items have anything to do with the efficiency of the company.  They're trying to meet the growing demands.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, thank you for that, and I think we will probably getting into some of these specific line items but I appreciate the high-level overview.

I have some questions about your sustainment OM&A budget.  If I could ask you to turn to C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 3.

Again that is C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 3.

MR. GEE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And just at a high level if you look at the totals at the bottom of that chart, your last year of actuals is 284 and a half million, bumping up to 318, then 340 in the two test years.  I have that an increase from 2008 to 2010 of about 10 percent, would you take that subject to check?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  In the pages following you discuss for example page 4, line 1, you discuss this is at a high level and I will get into the specifics, new expenditures, if you look a little farther down at line 3, increased efforts in certain areas.

Then if you flip to page 7, this might be a clarification question, but page 7 at about line 13, this is about, just to frame it, power equipment, maintenance it says:
"The test year funding is consistent with escalated historical spending levels and reflects the scheduled equipment maintenance and diagnostic activities planned for the test years."

Are they escalated spending levels?  Or are they historical spending levels?

MR. GEE:  They are historical with inflation.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. GEE:  Then the new work in there that is driving it is the PCB-driven work.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they are increases over historical?

MR. GEE:  So the normal planned maintenance like-for-like work is at historical levels.  We have new requirements because of environmental legislation.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the PCB requirement?

MR. GEE:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at that.  I think you described that at page 22 of this exhibit.

MR. GEE:  So page 22 will describe the requirements on the lines assets.  What we were just referring to was the stations maintenance program that also has a PCB effect, so there is two pieces.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there two pieces?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Let's stay with page 22 for now.  At line 20 you describe, I guess, the reason for this program and that is related to new environmental, Environment Canada regulations requiring the elimination of PCB contaminated oil above 500 parts per million, et cetera, that's what is driving this program?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That has to be eliminated by 2025, am I correct?

MR. GEE:  There's two components to that.

PCB levels above 500 parts per million are to be eliminated earlier, in a case where we're now working for exception to try to get a little longer period of time, potentially 2014.

The PCBs above 50 parts per million but below 500 have to be out by 2025.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, which were the ones that have to be replaced earlier?

MR. GEE:  Above 500.

MR. MILLAR:  In the plan that you discussed starting on page 15, is that for the 50 to 500?  Or is that all of it, including the above 500 for which the earlier deadline applies?

MR. GEE:  It includes both.  There is -- from our experience, we're not expecting any pole-top transformers to have PCB content that requires earlier elimination.

Some of the pad-mounted transformers may have bushings and other equipment that potentially does and we needed to address those earlier.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.   You describe your plan -- as I understand it, you have about 240,000 transformers that you need to inspect?  I've got that from line 8 on page 15.  Pardon me, page 23.

MR. GEE:  Yes.  I just want to make a bit of a caveat.  That's the numbers that we're expecting are going to need to do it.  We do need to visit all of the sites to see the vintage before we make a decision.

MR. MILLAR:  The plan you propose essentially is to ramp up by 2011 to 17,000 inspections per year.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Then you will maintain that level until 2025.

MR. GEE:  Yes.  I think, to be fair, as we get more -- that's needed.  We will adjust the plan as we get new information updated but nominally that is the plan.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the plan as it exists today.

MR. GEE:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me ask you this do you really need to ramp up to 17,000 in the first years?  I will -- just to let you know where I'm going, you don't have actually to be done most of this until 2025.  Why couldn't you ramp up a little bit slower and defer some of those costs till later?

MR. GEE:  So it's definitely one of the options we considered in the items we looked at.

However, what we've determined is the sooner we get a view of the assets needing replacement and the work that needs to be done, the more cost efficient we're going to be able to do the work.  We're going to be able to bundle the work in with other pieces.  It gives us many more options and much more flexibility which will in fact end up with lower cost for customers to complete this program in total.

The other significant aspect is that by eliminating the PCBs from the system, if there was an accident and a spill, we get the environmental benefit of not having an event.  And we get lower costs in dealing with it from that point of view.

So our belief is by doing it over this period of time is the most prudent approach.

MR. MILLAR:  There is a Staff IR 23, and we don't necessarily need to pull it up, but I think you conceded in the response to that IR, that some of these, that attrition might actually do some the work for you if you waited longer; is that fair?

MR. GEE:  Yes.  Attrition will eliminate some of these.  I think the IR also says really the impact is --

MR. MILLAR:  It wasn't much?

MR. GEE:  -- minimal at best, right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I would just like to follow up on a -- quickly on a question Mr. Buonaguro was asking you, and I don't propose to go into this in any great detail but maybe you could turn up Staff IR 21, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 21.

This related to your plan to correct known defects in the system.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you will recall from your discussion with Mr. Buonaguro that the company recognized that there are defects in the system.  There is a backlog essentially.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You want to get cracking on clearing that backlog if I can put it that way.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Staff wasn't able to find any empirical evidence that these historical defects, if I can call them that, this backlog is actually leading to increased problems on the system.

And I don't know that I have the evidence reference right in front of me, but I believe the company accepted as much.  So first, am I right in that, that there hasn't actually been an increase in either I don't know SAIFI or SAIDI numbers that would point to problems in the system.

MR. GEE:  Our prioritization process has assured that we have taken out the ones that would cause the biggest impact.

However, having these -- so we have dealt with the ones that are more likely to cause us a problem in the short term.

I think recognizing having these equipment defects problems on the system do, in fact, contribute to reliability problems, equipment failures is our second leading cause of outages, and the longer these sit the more probability you have that it's a problem.

You would also have a case where, if we -- the Distribution System Code says we identify defects, we log them and we correct them.

And it is an issue we have to deal with at some point.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough and I know in fact the DSC requires you to deal with these issues.  But am I right that your current statistics on outages, for example, aren't reflecting an increase.  There aren't increase problems.

MR. GEE:  I would say that, yes, at this point we don't have any evidence that it has increasing problems.

MR. MILLAR:  So your decision, aside from the DSC requirement to do so, but your decision to take active steps to clear this backlog, is that based more on your experience as operators as opposed to empirical data?

MR. GEE:  Yes, it is, and I think most would understand the premise the longer you leave a piece of defective equipment on there even if the probability is low, it is going to increase over time and it is trying to deal with that issue.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you consider deferring this type of investment till a little further down the road?

MR. GEE:  Yes, it was one of the options we considered.  It is one of the levels that would have went through the prioritization process.

So again, when you start looking at trying to deal these in manageable work packages you get more cost efficiency, you get some flexibility to move them around a little more.

You know, as an example, if -- we're starting to deal with these now in a cost-effective manner.  Our issue that we have about the Distribution System Code is probably less telling than if we don't do anything for two or three years and we've still got them there.

MR. MILLAR:  Well thank you for that, and I know you discussed this in some length with Mr. Buonaguro, so I will move on.

Can I ask you to go to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 26 -- I'm sorry, page 25, to begin with.  These are some additional sustaining OM&A expenses.

Again, just as a highlight of the numbers here, the totals go from...

MR. GEE:  I'm sorry, C1, tab 2, schedule 2?

MR. MILLAR:  Page 25.

MR. GEE:  Twenty-five, thank you.  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  The totals there go from 10.7 million in 2008 to 12.5 in both the test years, in fact.

Then if you look at miscellaneous services, we see 5.4 million to 7 million -- essentially, 7 million in both the test years.  Then if you look down to the description of what miscellaneous services is, it includes a number of things, including the last thing you note, corporate environmental health and safety activities.

And then if you skip to the next page, page 26, in fact, environmental health and safety is the largest component of miscellaneous services and makes up approximately 40 percent of the expenditures.

Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So Staff asked an IR about this, and it is IR 24, exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 24.

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we essentially asked, I guess you can see at line 12:
"Why do the Health and Safety programs require expansion in the test years?"


Your response starting at line 19:
"The increase in the Health and Safety program costs for the test years is related to expansion of current initiatives and new initiatives aimed at meeting Hydro One's strategic objective of creating an injury free workforce."


I don't think anyone would dispute that is a laudable goal, but what is -- what has happened?  What has changed that is forcing -- not forcing -- that is leading you to propose expanding those programs in these two test years?

MR. GEE:  Well, one of the main driving factors is the increase in the work program, including the Green Energy Plan, is going to have a requirement for increased staff and increased contractors in working on our business.

That results in the need to do additional training and certification of contractors for health and safety.  So the health and safety program is responding to both the increase of program and the changing mix of the resources that will be coming together.

MR. MILLAR:  So this -- if I heard your answer correctly, it's that these aren't necessarily new programs.  You are just running more people through them?

MR. GEE:  There is a component, yes.  There is some new programs, but the big chunk of the driver of this is the fact that we're going to be running more people through them, which is expanding the health and safety requirements across the business.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's related to the Green Energy Plan, did I hear you say?

MR. GEE:  Just in general to the amount much work, the number of staff, both internal and contractors, that will be working on the business.

MR. MILLAR:  I suspect you wouldn't have allocated any of those costs to the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GEE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Some questions on development OM&A.  Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, there is a handy chart at page 2 there going over the increases, which are fairly significant in this case.

2008, we have an $8 million budget, and then it goes all the way up to almost 22 million in both of the test years.

By my math, that is something like a 171 percent increase.  Do you see that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any reason to disagree with my math?

MR. GEE:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  You had -- I don't mean to follow up with you on this too much, but I believe the evidence states much of this is driven by Green Energy Plan investments; is that correct?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, the increases -- well, 12, 13, 14 million, something like that, if I heard you correctly yesterday, your evidence was that under development O&M we were only talking about $2.5 to $3 million that are attributable to the Green Energy Plan.

Can you help me with that?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I may have misheard, so if there is an easy explanation...

MR. GEE:  Yes, I can.  In the data collection, engineering and technical studies, the increases there are in the Green Energy Plan.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, that was data collection?

MR. GEE:  Engineering and technical studies.  These are additional studies to be able to connect generators and be able to deal with them.  They are in the Green Energy Plan.

The standards and technology were the items we discussed earlier that we have been calling indirect, based on Mr. Van Dusen's guesstimate.  That is showing up there.

And the smart grid standards and technology is what Mr. Stevens has talked about earlier.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the smart grid standards and technology in the Green Energy Plan currently?

MR. GEE:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  The only indirect costs from that table would be the standards and technology?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Great, thank you.

Some questions about -- I think these are customer care questions, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 5.

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you will see there is table 1 at page 3 showing the overall costs, but I would like to take you to -- well, first, I would observe there is actually fairly modest increases, if you look at table 1, 99.3 million up to 106 million for the test year, and then 102 million the year after that.

You see that?  So those are fairly modest increases.

MR. ADAMS:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  I would point out, though, that you get some fairly significant benefits from smart meters; is that right?  Your meter reading costs are dropping through the floor if you look at table 2, going from 19 million down to 9 million in 2010, and then 5.3 million the next year?

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But I would like to stick with table 2, if we could, because I see some fairly increases here, and there are some brief explanations of it in the evidence, but I would like to follow it a bit further.

Other field support costs?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That, I have it going from 7 million to 10.6 million, about a 51 percent increase.  Does that sound about right?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You discussed the reasons for that at page 9, line 24.  As best I can see, there is a single sentence that explains that increase.  It says the increase in 2009 and 2010 is due to an increase in field collections and investigation work related to receivables management.

And I don't dispute that is the case, certainly, but I couldn't see how that leads to a 51 percent increase in your expenses under that line item.

Can you help me with that?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I think I talked briefly yesterday to that point, but maybe not clearly enough.

There is a couple of components there.  One is the effort that we were talking about is related to two main areas that I discussed yesterday.  One is related to arrears management, in terms of cut-out of electricity for non-payment and the effort and activity around that work increasing over this period.

MR. MILLAR:  What do you mean by "this period"?

MR. ADAMS:  The test period that you outlined there.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, the test period.  Thank you.  I'm sorry.  Okay, carry on.

MR. ADAMS:  And then there is just a general cost of labour increase also put as part of that, as well.

We also anticipated over that period some of the special investigations work that is made up as part of that area also increasing.

MR. MILLAR:  Why do you think it is going to increase?

MR. ADAMS:  Again, cost of labour, and just generally we're looking at the amount of change that is happening generally around meters and billing and that kind of thing that we anticipated a modest increase there, not a primary driver.  The majority of it is due to effort around arrears management, is the main driver.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, is arrears management becoming more prominent?

MR. ADAMS:  Just given the amount of bad debt and the amount of accounts that we're managing through that process.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, do you expect the bad debt issues to continue through the test years?

MR. ADAMS:  I think as we outlined, and I might have mentioned as well through earlier testimony, is that we did, in our planning, anticipate that the economic effects and the impacts on bad debt would continue throughout this planning period.

Just given the different sources of information, and I am not sure anybody still knows although we're seeing some signs of recovery, we were anticipating 2011 we would start to see some of the better economic conditions start to come into play at that point.  So we looked that at that point it wouldn't increase any more and hopefully decline.

MR. MILLAR:  Your budget actually increases for 2011 though; is that correct?  Not by much, 10.6 to 10.7.

MR. ADAMS:  Well, I was talking, sorry, about bad debt itself.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, that component?

MR. ADAMS:  That component is what I was describing, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  While we're -- if you could flip back to table 2, customer care management.

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, we see a fairly significant increase here, 6.4 million in 2008 up to 11.4 and then 12.8 in the two test years.

You describe the drivers behind this increase at page 11, line 1.  It says:
"The increase in customer care management costs starting in 2009, is due to expanded accountabilities of customer care to address the unique service needs required for new renewable distributed generator customers."

MR. ADAMS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  So this is all Green Energy Plan related work; is that right?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I think as we outlined in a number of the different interrogatory responses, as well around this same area that we could point to, if you like, is that's the primary area, both from a customer interaction point of view, and relationship point of view throughout the application process and afterwards, and also in our settlements area to deal with both the complex meeting components and payments.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I heard I think it was Mr. Gee yesterday indicated that the indirect costs related to customer care are in the neighbourhood of 3.5 to 5 million.

If I look at this chart, in fact, for 2010 the increase over 2008 is I think it is, yes, exactly 5 million.  Are we talking about the same numbers here?

MR. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, what numbers were you looking at again, comparing?

MR. MILLAR:  The customer care management budget increases $5 million from 2008 to 2010.

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think it was Mr. Gee yesterday suggested that the indirect costs of customer care related to the Green Energy Plan are 3.5 to 5 million.  So is that the 5 million?

MR. ADAMS:  That would be the majority of that amount going up in there, but that wouldn't be the total of that 5 million.  Not all of that increase I guess is what I'm trying to say, from 2008 through to 2011 would be entirely to do with that area.  Some of it would be.  Some of it would be general labour increases, that kind of thing.

But that would account for the majority of that change, certainly.  And be one of the components that made up that 3.5 to 5 million, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the drivers you describe at page 11 only include these Green Energy Plan issues.

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it then that the other additional driver would be increased labour costs?

MR. ADAMS:  That would be the other area, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:   Thank you.

I am almost finished.  Just a few questions on smart grid O&M.

I think perhaps the handiest way to look at this would be to turn up AMPCO number IR 44, which is Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 44.  Again, that is H-12-44.

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We picked this one because it has a pretty map on it.

First of all, just to confirm the numbers.  It is a $10 million in development work in 2010 and 2011 related to the smart grid pilot project?

MR. STEVENS:  For --

MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me?

MR. STEVENS:  It is five million for the smart grid, the other five million was associated with studies.

MR. MILLAR:  So five million for the pilot and five million for studies?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we look at the study area, and first just to be clear, the study area is for the pilot project; is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it's a fairly large chunk of territory if I can put it that way.  It's the entire Bruce Peninsula and well south of which -- and a fair ways east as well.

My question to you is:  What was the purpose for selecting such a large area?  Could you have gotten the same data from taking a smaller area and perhaps limiting the size of the pilot project?

MR. STEVENS:  I should actually mention that we do not plan on installing "smart grid tech devices" across the entire pilot area.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh I see.

MR. STEVENS:  Depending on the area we're looking at, we actually in some cases are very specific where we may pick up a feeder or two.  Some of the customer enablement type of initiatives that we're looking at we wanted to capture a fairly broad demographic, and we selected this area because it includes numbers of urban and rural, seasonal and farm, you know, it's got rocks and it has trees it has hills.  It's got, you know, distributed generators of various types throughout.

And it is an area where we focussed our smart meter implementation early on and we're actually building our WiMax facilities in that area as well.  So it has all of the circumstances in place to actually do a good trial.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to follow up on what you said.  The size of the area, you're not necessarily installing equipment in every square kilometre.  This just is an area that encompasses all of those different types of, I don't know, connections and service needs that is typical of I guess -- what would provide you with data that would be typical of a much larger part of the province.  Is that a fair way to put it?

MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.  In fact we will try to minimize the equipment in that pilot area to just enough to complete a good business case before we move to a larger program subsequent to the test years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Gentlemen, thank you for your patience, those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Rogers do you have any redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.
Questions from the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a couple of questions.

First to Mr. Adams.  Just so that I am clear about your evidence with respect to the customer care increases associated with the renewable generation projects.  That represents about, did I read it correctly, there are 32 employees associated with that activity?

MR. ADAMS:  That's correct, that's what we had highlighted, about 32 staff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's new staff?

MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And those employees are dedicated to the -- managing the relationship with the renewable generation; is that right?

MR. ADAMS:  Only some of those would be.

The split, I don't recall I could look it up, but relatively half and half, but some of them would be on the relationship side of the equation.  And the other ones would be on the settlement side of the equation, it's a complex metering and payment side of it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The settlement side has to do with the flow of energy into the system and the flow of energy back out of the system as the system now is configured; is that right?  Is that the complication that you are talking about?

MR. ADAMS:  It is really the difference between the -- with settlements through to the IESO in terms of the price of power and what's being paid versus what it's costing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does it require 16 individuals to manage that?

MR. ADAMS:  Not to manage that, but both parts of it.  Both the complex metering and setting up and maintaining the different complex metering configurations within the systems in order to be properly measuring and accounting for all of that complex metering, both on the load side and on the supply-side.

Now we have two equations happening with these generators, both the FIT and the microFIT generators.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to be clear, those costs are part of Mr. Van Dusen's indirect costs that he associated with the Green Energy Plan?  So part of the $10 million to $15 million.

MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.  And the relationship side, what are the complications with respect to the relationship side?  Are these particularly difficult customers?

MR. ADAMS:  No.  I wouldn't call it complications or difficult.  I would think they would have very unique needs as generators, if you look at the sort of two main segments, both from a FIT or larger generator and then more from a microFIT would have different requirements.

The majority of that would be around the support of the larger generators and the needs that they have as generators and the complexity of their connections and the process itself that we're going through, through all of the stages of the assessments, the applications the contracts and then the ongoing relationships that we need to be maintain with those customers.

MR. GEE:  If I may add something that might be helpful is, you may recall that at one point Hydro One was having difficulty meeting the time lines for new connections under RESOP and having some of the difficulties, and we did take a significant re-engineering, process re-engineering look at how we do this.  How do we speed this up?  How do we get these through?

And the organization that Mr. Adams has described was one of the solutions, because if we get the right information and the right piece and people understand how it works, everything starts to flow much -- smoothly, and this was the result of us being able -- trying to speed up and meeting our requirements there.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's very helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Gee.

Mr. Gee, just with respect to your testimony, you are the director of distribution planning and asset management?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's a single position?

MR. GEE:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There aren't two portfolios, but a single one.

Over the last -- how long have you been in that role?

MR. GEE:  A few months now.  I started earlier this year.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Were you in this department for a number of years prior to your elevation to the directorship?

MR. GEE:  Previous to that, I had been on an assignment with our enablement organization, which was after Cornerstone setting up a support organization.  So I have been there for a little under two years.

Before that, I was in the customer operation side of the business dealing with the execution of work and the work management pieces on that side.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As part of this planning process, was it you that developed the initial spending level requirements for your area of responsibility?

MR. GEE:  No.  We would have asset planners assigned to all of the specific areas.  They would have those areas of responsibilities, and the asset planners do that work.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How would you interact with the asset planners?

MR. GEE:  One of the steps in the process is a challenge process where we go through internal peer reviews and director reviews.

So I had participated in these from a director review point of view where we're challenging whether they have the risk right, whether there is consistency, whether they have really interpreted the things properly.  So I have been through that process before.

And, of course, many times I have been on the -- the process where we input into the doability, some of our ability to execute plans and execute them at the end.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So how do the asset planners actually develop the spending estimates that they come to you with?

MR. GEE:  So there is a couple of different scenarios.  As part of the process, they will have some historical unit costs.  They will have some estimates they had.  There is also a process where they will request estimates.  The service providers prepare and get ready to feed this program with updated unit costs.

So if we have work we want to do, we will ask both constraints and can you update the estimates based on the most recent costs as a feed into this process.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you had occasion to look at your historical budgets for the activities that you are responsible for now, the historic budgets associated with the activities that you are responsible for, you know, over the last, say, five years the budgets associated with your activities?

MR. GEE:  In specific areas I have.

I guess it depends on what -- yes, but not in total, not all programs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My question is:  In your estimation, have your budgets been increasing over the last number of years?

MR. GEE:  They have been increasing very much relative to the increase in the work that we're getting done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  But has there been a year in the last -- recent past, say, five or six years, where your budgets have actually gone down?

MR. GEE:  Individual work programs?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  In terms of your --

MR. GEE:  In total?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- departmental responsibility.

MR. GEE:  So the departmental budget?  I don't know for sure.  It doesn't... I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could you check?

MR. GEE:  Sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.  Could we have an undertaking to that effect?

MR. MILLAR:  JX6.7 -- t is not an X.  J6.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO ADVISE WHETHER MR. GEE'S DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET HAS INCREASED 2004 TO DATE.

MR. MILLAR:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's take 2004 to date, please.

Thank you, Mr. Gee.

Mr. Stevens, just a couple of questions with respect to -- actually, if we could see H-9-13, page 2?

This is an interrogatory response that reflects the smart zone budget and spending proposal.

I just wanted to have a little bit more information about the storage pilot.  Now, that storage pilot, is that directed to the ability to store power from an intermittent source?  Is that what that is about?

MR. STEVENS:  The study component that we will be looking at in the smart zone is about maintaining power reliability when there is an intermittent power source, like a wind farm or something like that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why has that been particularly identified as a priority?

MR. STEVENS:  We're actually looking at a number of tools for maintaining power quality with that type of generator on the distribution line, and it's not unlike, you know, maybe looking at voltage regulation or, you know, adding capacitor banks.

It is just another tool in the tool chest that we may have available to optimize the DG implementation without, you know, as an example, having to run express feeders as another alternative.

It is trying to look at what that tool chest should be.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that one of the attributes of the intermittent source, that it creates some challenges in terms of the reliability of your system, as well as the ability to actually access the power that's being generated by the intermittent source?

MR. STEVENS:  That potential is there, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that what you're going to be doing in Owen Sound?

MR. STEVENS:  It's to try to look for power quality remedies, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Can I understand from that that you haven't solved that problem particularly at this stage?

MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that storage -- I know you will be bored with this question, but I just want to make it clear.  That storage project, is that specifically -- is that part of Mr. Van Dusen's indirect assessment --

MR. STEVENS:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- with respect to the Green Energy Plan?

MR. STEVENS:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is strictly a smart grid expenditure?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The other item that I was interested in is something called system integration.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's a fairly significant item in your spending program, especially for 2011.  It goes from 3.4 million in 2010 to 23.2 million in 2011.

First of all, why is that rather extraordinary increase -- what is that attributable to?

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So I mentioned in the smart zone pilot one of the areas we want to focus in is providing our grid control centre with the tools to be able to manage a large number of distributed generators.

You know, near as we can tell, there is no smart grid software package available today, like an Enterprise application, so we're going to be looking at integrating a number of disparate applications.

We mentioned today we have our transmission network management system.  We're going to be looking at a new distribution management system that is capable of modelling a distribution network as opposed to a transmission network.  We do not have that today.

We will be looking at integrating a lot of the data we have on our GIS system.  Ss we start looking at distributed automation, we'll be looking at integrating that with our outage management system, as well, so one system talks to the other.  So it is that integration of those disparate systems that is driving the cost in 2011.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is key learning for you?

MR. STEVENS:  These are tools that are actually required.  We look at it that the horse is out of the gate, and we now have about a two-year window to get these systems and tools in place so that our operators can manage that part of the system in a safe and reliable manner.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What happens if they're not in place?

MR. STEVENS:  If they're not in place, then we're going to have to slow down the implementation of generators.  We have to get those tools in place.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Thank you, panel.  You are now excused, and thank you very much for all of your helpful testimony.

MR. GEE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  We will now move to the next panel.  I don't think we will take a break.  We will just bring them in if they're here, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  They better be here.

MS. NOWINA:  There aren't 20 of them, are there?

MR. ROGERS:  No, there are four.

MR. ROGERS:  Panel 4 is assembled, Madam Chair, this is the panel on OM&A and capital shared services, Cornerstone, compensation and staffing, cost efficiency and productivity, performance reporting and benchmarking.

Could they be sworn and I will qualify them.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4 OM&A AND CAPITAL

Paul Malozewski, Sworn


Keith McDonell, Sworn


Marc Villett, Sworn


Michael Winters, Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  The witnesses are ready, Mr. Rogers.
Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Let me start at the left.  Mr. McDonell.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae has been filed in these proceedings at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, Page 9.  Can you confirm that's an accurate description of your experience?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is an accurate assessment, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand you presently hold the position of manager of human resources and operations?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Of the company.  I see you have a, you were educated at Queen's University where you hold a bachelor of commerce degree and also a master of industrial relations.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You are here today to answer questions about human resources?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Specifically in the area of compensation and staffing, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I know you have and here before.

MR. MCDONELL:  Once.

MR. ROGERS:  Once before.  To your left is Mr. Marc Villett.

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Villett, your CV has been filed in this proceeding at tab 21, schedule 1, page 16.  Is it an accurate reflection of your experience?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand, very briefly, that you hold a bachelor of business administration degree from Wilfrid Laurier University?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You are a certified management accountant?

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You also have a masters of business administration degree from Queen's University.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career in 1996 or so working as a financial analyst?

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And then you have worked for a number of companies including Xerox Canada and ADP Canada and the Provincial Health Services Authority, I see.

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  All in the area of fiscal management.

MR. VILLETT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You joined Hydro One a few years ago and you presently hold the position of manager, financial planning, and analysis.

MR. VILLETT:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Villett, have you testified before?

MR. VILLETT:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to, generally?

MR. VILLETT:  Common corporate functions and services, costs, the overhead capitalization, studies, common corporate -- common cost allocation studies, affiliated service agreement.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.  Are you enjoying yourself so far?

MR. VILLETT:  We'll see.

MR. ROGERS:  Next Mr. Malozewski.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I see that you have an engineering degree from the University of Toronto?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have a masters of business administration degree from Toronto as well?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you are a project management professional as a result of your training in Pennsylvania with the Project Management Institute.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career with Bell Canada in a variety of positions, I see.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And after joining Hydro One -- you have worked there for a number of years, I see, with Hydro or Hydro One.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked your way up through a succession of different responsibilities and you hold the present position of senior manager, business planning and special studies.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your CV is at schedule 1, page 8, it is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  What general areas will you be dealing with today?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I will be dealing with asset management, predominantly, but I also be dealing with external revenue, costing of work, efficiency productivity, benchmarking.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

I understand although you have been involved in assisting with rate case preparation before, this is your first time testifying as a witness.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Finally, Mr. Winters.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Winters, your curriculum vitae is found at schedule 1, page 17.  It's an accurate reflection of your qualifications, sir?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, I see that you hold a bachelor of applied science degree from Queen's University?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. ROGERS:  And you began your career with the, with Ontario Hydro in 1996.

MR. WINTERS:  No.  That's incorrect.  I actually -- I started my career with Anderson Consulting doing consulting work with Ontario Hydro.  MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I see, thank you very much.  That is set out in your CV.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I just misread it.  Thank you very much.  So you worked in the consulting business for a time, I see you worked as well for a company Canadian Managed Networks Inc.

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  As vice president of business integration.

MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And most recently been employed at Hydro One and your present position is chief information officer.  Is that correct?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, correct.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with?

MS. CHAPLIN:  There is only one button for each table.

MR. WINTERS:  I will be speaking to the IT, OM&A and capital as well as the Cornerstone project.

MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  Mr. Winters, have you ever testified before?

MR. WINTERS:  No, I have not.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Malozewski, you are going to operate the as the coordinator of this panel, please.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you confirm that the evidence filed by the company to which this panel will be responding is, to the best of your information and belief, a fair reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  To the best of my knowledge, it is, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Gentlemen, would you please answer the questions that are put to you.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Faye you are going to lead off with this?

MR. FAYE:  I believe so, Madam Chair, and just before I start, where should I target the break?

MS. NOWINA:  Let's target the break around 2:30 which is about 24 minutes from now.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am counsel for Energy Probe.  I want to start with some questions that I asked previous panels and they were referred on to this panel because they felt you would be better informed on the subject.

The first one stems from a discussion I had with Mr. Struthers, and I believe that was panel 2.

Mr. Struthers made a statement about how concerned the board of directors of your company were with the customer impacts, particularly the rate impacts, of every rate application that comes before the Ontario Energy Board but in particular this one, because of the large increases that are being requested in your programs.  I asked Mr. Struthers, that to my knowledge, in tough times, companies take a number of measures to try and contain their costs and particularly their OM&A costs that have to be expensed in the year that they're incurred.  And therefore have to be recovered from their customers in that year.

One of the questions I asked, Mr. Struthers, that he referred on to you was:  Have you implemented any programs with the direct intention of minimizing your OM&A costs?  I gave him a couple of examples which I will just give to you.

Have you implemented a hiring freeze in your company?

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I can address that and maybe Mr. Malozewski can pipe in if he so chooses.

No, we have not implemented a hiring freeze, per se, but I can tell you that senior management is very concerned about the hiring.  Hiring managers have a budget and they can hire up to their budget, but any hiring above their budget requires more senior approval.  So we hire to -- in order to get the work accomplished.

MR. FAYE:  All right, thank you.  Another example of the kinds of actions that companies can take is that they can freeze discretionary overtime.  That would be -- you would only -- you would actually instruct staff, No over time unless it is unavoidable.  An example in your case I think would be trouble call.  You can't really avoid that.

But doing planned work on weekends when you are paying overtime, do you have any policies in place that have instructed staff that you won't do planned work on weekends unless it's an emergency?

MR. MCDONELL:  Let me take that one, as well.

I think I disagree with your initial assertion about discretionary overtime.  I don't think Hydro One has discretionary overtime.  The overtime that we have at Hydro One is, as you say, in response to trouble calls or storm damage.  But we also do overtime as a result of planned outages, and the reason we do that is to avoid and minimize customer and public inconvenience.

While we may not have instituted a particular freeze, we certainly have put in controls on overtime, like any good management would.  I mean, overtime is one of a variety of different resources we have in order to accomplish work.

So we've always had controls in place, if you will.  I mean, nobody can work overtime unless they have approval from their supervisor.  All overtime work must be put on a time sheet and approved by their manager.  Time sheets are always audited.

And in some groups, what they can do is they can move work around so that they can move work from where a location might be working overtime and put to a location where overtime is not being used extensively, or perhaps they can move staff.

So what I am saying is we do have a number of controls in place to minimize overtime.

MR. FAYE:  Can I assume, then, that you have regular reporting on how much overtime you are incurring each fiscal period or each pay period?

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe it is every six months.

MR. FAYE:  Every six months?

That sounds like maybe a little too late to spot any problems that might be occurring.  Am I assuming right that your senior management is the reporting authority for this; that every six months they get a report saying how much has been spent?

MR. MCDONELL:  Senior management, I would imagine, I believe, although not 100 percent sure, it would go also to all of the vice presidents.  As a matter of fact, it also goes to our trade unions, as well.  They're interested in the amount of overtime, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Then I put back to you the question I was just about to formulate, and that is:  If you're reporting semi-annually, how do you spot a trend that senior management might want to deal with?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think we're relying on our managers to manage.  And just like all different types of resources that they may have at their disposal in order to get the work accomplished, the expectation is that they will manage their resources appropriately.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Perhaps I can maybe add to that, Mr. Faye.  I can certainly assure you that at the management level, every manager is very well aware and very in tune with the need to cut costs, defer costs as much as possible.

Mr. Struthers spoke about various measures that have been implemented, and I can tell you that every manager is fully aware of all of those measures.  And they range, for example, from the small-dollar item - for example, having a pot of coffee, even in the case where an external party comes to meet with Hydro One, that's been eliminated - to things like seeking the top approval to go on a conference or on a training course that's directly attributable to work.  We need to seek top approval for that.

And just recently, as another example, we would hold meetings where we require a number of people, quite a number of people, to come together, and we would conveniently hold it at a hotel next door.  And to cut costs further, we had -- had that sort of meeting at a Salvation Army facility.

So we very seriously take into account the need to cut costs, and those are just some of the examples.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  That's interesting, because I was going to touch on a couple of those areas, not the Salvation Army one.  That one hadn't come to mind.

But I think I heard you say that you have some sort of not a moratorium on travel, but certainly a requirement that someone -- I believe you said top management have to approve travel to conferences.  Did I get that right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Top management would need to approve any travel outside the province for conferences and courses; that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And who are -- who would I include top management to be?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  International travel requires the approval of the chief executive officer.

MR. MCDONELL:  If I could just add, international, as well, we probably don't do a lot of international travel, but out of province requires the CEO approval, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I was just about to question you on international is not out of province, necessarily, but any national travel inside of Canada that is outside of Ontario, your CEO has to approve that.  Okay, thank you.

I would like to move to an area that I had also asked another panel, and this has to do with an IR from Energy Probe.  It is Energy Probe 29.  It can be found at H-1-29.

No, I'm sorry, not Energy Probe.  Board Staff 29.

The Board Staff in that one asked you for a couple of benchmarking studies.  One was prepared by First Quartile, and you filed that as attachment 1, I believe.

I would like to look at just a sample page in here, page 53 of attachment 1.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, we have that.

MR. FAYE:  The histograms along the side there would apply to the participants in the study; am I right in assuming that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  So each of those groups of three are one participant, and, within the group of three, we have the range of figures for 2005 to 2007; correct?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  One thing that is missing from here, at least I couldn't see it, was which one is Hydro One?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, I can help you with that.  Hydro One is represented by the fourth set of bars from the top.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, is that information available for all of these charts?  It is hard to evaluate where the company stands in relation to its peers without knowing which bar applies to the company.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That information is available.

MR. FAYE:  Would I be able to get it, please?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It would take quite a bit of doing to identify it.

MR. FAYE:  So it is not identified on your copy, either, then?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't have the identified version.  I only have the answer for this one particular chart.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So there is an identified version?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't know if there is, or not.

I am advised that it would take some doing to identify Hydro One on all of the charts that have been submitted.

MR. FAYE:  I wonder, if you didn't receive a copy showing where you were in the ranking, what value has this chart for you if you can't read it?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  We have a confidential version showing where Hydro One fits.  We would need to identify it on the interrogatory response that we provided.

MR. FAYE:  I see.  So it's a matter of going to your identified version, and on that one it does say "Hydro One" and it has all of the other participants, I'm assuming.

You would take that off, and then you would note it on this version, this sort of redacted version; right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.

Could I come back to this after the break?  I am sure I can pare this down to a dozen charts that I would like to know where you stand on, and if it was a dozen, would that be a real problem?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  I think that would be appreciated, if you could do that.

MR. FAYE:  I will look at that at the break.

MR. ROGERS:  We could get that fairly easily, I would think.  The smaller the number the easier, I would think.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  In the context of some of the questions that previous counsel have asked panels about your OM&A costs, the trend, of course, is upwards in your OM&A.

And I will just quote you a couple of numbers that you can take subject to check.

OM&A in 2007 is listed at 486.4 million and it's going to 606.2 million in 2011.  Do those numbers sound about right to you, from your evidence?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Subject to check.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's a fairly significant increase, I'm sure you'll admit?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is an increase, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And have you analyzed what the impact of that increase would be on your standing in this chart here, this particular one, this three-year distribution lines expense, I am sure there is other charts, but just in this one, say.  Where do you expect that you would land after you got up to 606.2 million?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't have that information.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  Just for the record, I would just like to clarify, I think Mr. Faye is referring to the original summary or the original table and it was updated.  It is a slightly smaller number but --

MR. FAYE:  I apologize.  I obviously did this cross-examination from the wrong data.

MR. ROGERS:  Just so people can follow it in the transcript.

MR. FAYE:  We are in the ballpark, though.  We are looking at a significant -- 25 percent increase here, roughly, and with a 25 percent increase, all other things being equal, would you expect that your ranking in this benchmarking table would get better or get worse?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  All else being equal, we would expect that we would improve.

However, other companies at the same time are also changing their spending patterns, a great many of them are also increasing spending as well.  So it is very difficult to predict exactly where they will be relative to us and vice versa.

MR. FAYE:  I think I heard you say that all other things being equal, you would expect your company to improve.  Did you mean that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  All other things, if no one else changed their spending patterns and nothing else changed, by relatively speaking, I would expect us to improve.

MR. FAYE:  When you say "improve," you mean you would show up better compared to your peers than you do now?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Even with a 25 percent increase in O&M you would expect your ranking to improve?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Excuse me.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.  Sorry.  To clarify, when we talked about an improvement in the ranking, I was actually contemplating the improvement on reliability as opposed to the expense per circuit kilometre.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I can understand that.  But in the expense per circuit kilometre --

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  In the expense per circuit, all else being equal, we would actually worsen in our ranking.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thank you for that.

And I will come back to that, subject to the first quartile, after the break when I have some information for you on the other charts that might be useful.

If you would turn up Energy Probe 43, I think I will do this one and that might just take us to the break.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we have the reference, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE: Oh, I'm sorry.  H3, schedule 43.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Do you have that one now?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  We asked you in here about some measurement criteria to measure your productivity and you responded with a number of measures that you use.

And then in part (b) you discussed the programs that you have in place or are contemplating putting in place to get to your objective top quartile.

And the first three are self-evident, they are to do with trees.  And rightfully so, you have a large vegetation management program expansion.

The last two are a little bit more ambiguous, and I wonder if you could expand on those.  That is specifically, what new equipment is being adopted for greater efficiencies and greater -- how does greater use of information help you with your work bundling and promote more efficiency?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I can give you a few examples.  In the case of information.  Information is very critical component in our planning, in our work planning and execution planning.

As the work program becomes larger and more complex, the need to bundle the work becomes that much more critical.  So we don't want to be going into stations more than we have to.  We try to bundle as much as we can in terms of sustainment work, any development work, green work, and so forth.  All of that would be bundled together.

So one of the key leveraging aspects to doing that would be better information.  So some of the information that we are now starting to see coming out of SAP, out of Cornerstone is supporting our efforts there.  So that's an example where we're using and leveraging information more to drive efficiencies.

New equipment.  For example, we're looking at new technologies for protection and control in a box and leveraging that for things like generator connections and so forth.  We are looking at green vehicles.  So just some examples there.

MR. FAYE:  Returning to your use of information.  I still have a little trouble discerning the crux of that, but let me put it to you this way.

It sounds like it is coordination of work by different groups who might be going to the same location, but at various times of the year.  And instead of having all of those trips occur, you put all of the work together that has to be done say on a distribution station.  And you send everybody out once to do it all.  You take one outage, for instance, and you don't have a crew go back five times during the year because another piece of the puzzle dropped into place and they realized they had to do something else.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is along those lines.  But it's not as if the information was simply, you know, not used previously.

We are gaining more and better information on such things as the condition of our assets, on the performance of our assets, and so we are better able to see where work does need to be done and if we're going into a station for other purposes, for example, we can look at the performance of equipment at that station and determine whether it makes sense to bundle some sustainment work while we're there.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, so you're saying that you didn't previously do that to the extent that you planned to today?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  We have now leveraging the information that we're starting to get out of SAP, for example.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  If I could just finally finish with a couple of elaborations on the new equipment.

This isn't what I had initially understood it to be.  It's not work equipment we're talking about here.  It is equipment like protection and control equipment.  Is that right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is equipment that we would use either as part of the system or in executing the work.

MR. FAYE:  So it is a component of your grid?  Or it's work equipment that you use to do work on the grid?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Well, it's both.  I gave an example of both.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I did hear the protection and control element and I am thinking about that.  But I must have missed what the work equipment improvement technology was.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Oh, so the shift towards the green fleet, having more vehicles in our fleet that are green, more environmentally friendly.

MR. FAYE:  More fuel efficient is what you're trying to convey?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  And fuel efficient.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.

I think that would be a good spot for a break, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will break for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:25 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:06 p.m.
DECISION:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Before we continue with Mr. Faye, I am going to give you our guidance on the cost of capital issue now.  I am going to read it, because I want to make sure that we're very clear on what our guidance is.

The Board has considered the submissions of Mr. Warren on behalf of CCC, CME and VECC, and has also reviewed and considered the letter filed by Mr. Shepherd this morning on behalf of Schools which requests that the Board determine the components of the cost of capital for Hydro One based on the evidence in this proceeding.

Mr. Shepherd's letter further requests the applicant be required to answer additional interrogatories from the applicant to assist with the filing of expert evidence.

The Board does not intend to reopen the cost of capital policy, which was only recently determined after a lengthy and thorough review by the Board.

The Board was assisted in this review by a wide variety of interested parties and experts, many of whom are intervenors in this proceeding.

The Board considers the cost of capital policy to be sufficiently robust to apply across the Board to all electricity LDCs.  The prior policy also applied to all LDCs.

The Board does, however, recognize that it is open to parties to argue that there may be certain circumstances where the policy should not be applied.

The Board will, therefore, allow the filing of evidence that establishes the specific circumstances, which exist in this case and with this applicant, which would make the application of the policy inappropriate.

The Board sees no need to require the applicant to file further evidence justifying the application of the Board's policy at this time.

Also, absent further information from intervenors on the nature of their evidentiary filing, the Board will not make a provision for interrogatories of Hydro One at this time.

The Board will make a determination on the schedule for filing of intervenor evidence after the intervenors have provided more information on the nature of their evidence.  We expect this information by the end of this week.

The Board will allow Hydro One to file reply evidence, if they wish.

Are there any questions regarding that?

All right.  Mr. Faye, back to you.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye (continued):


MR. FAYE:  Panel, before the break, I had undertaken to look over the indices that I thought would be helpful to us to analyze Hydro One's benchmark performance, and I do have a brief list here.  It turns out to be eight that I think would suffice.

And it might be helpful for you to turn up that attachment 1 of Exhibit H-1-29, page 1 of that.  Page 1 of that is an index of the graphs that follow.  And I will just take you very quickly through the ones that I think if -- you could indicate where Hydro One falls on that graph.

In the first category under "safety", if I could get the three-year lost time incident rate for total transmission and distribution, and the three-year lost time incident rate for distribution lines.

Under the next category of distribution reliability, I would like to get the three-year SAIDI, including major events and planned outages; the three-year SAIDI excluding major events and planned outages; the three-year SAIFI, including major events and planned outages; the three-year SAIFI, excluding major events and planned outages.

And then under the "financial", the three-year distribution substation OM&A per asset and a three-year distribution substation per MVA.

Do you see any difficulty in supplying that information?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No, I think we can address that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Can we take an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  J6.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.8:  TO PROVIDE HYDRO ONE'S RANKING ON THE BENCHMARK PERFORMANCE INDICES AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Returning briefly to a subject that we were talking about before the break, and I neglected to give you a follow-up question.  It had to do with the subject of discretionary overtime.  And I think I heard the panel respond that Hydro One doesn't have any discretionary overtime, that all of their overtime is necessary or no discretionary can be exercised.

I would like to ask you just a couple of questions about that.  The first one is:  As a percentage of labour hours, what would your overtime in a year amount to?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCDONELL:  We don't have that information with us at the moment.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I just help?  Maybe I can help, Madam Chair.  There is an Exhibit C2, tab 3, schedule 1, a comparison of wages and salaries, which I think does set out the overtime.  I don't know whether that is what Mr. Faye is looking for, or not, but it may help.

MR. MCDONELL:  The reference again, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  C2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1 of 3.

MR. FAYE:  I agree this sets out the overtime for this particular trade classification on an average basis.  It shows what an individual might expect to earn in total wages, combining base and overtime, but it doesn't give the Panel a feeling for how much overtime the company as a whole incurs in a year.

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, I was just trying to help.

MR. FAYE:  I think is it very helpful.  I think that is the regional maintainer, is it?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Would it be possible to get an undertaking to get that percentage of labour hours?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Whilst we're at it, would you be able to do it on the basis of labour dollars, as well, so percentage of overtime dollars as a function of total labour dollars?  Thank you.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J6.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J6.9:  TO ADVISE percentAGE OF OVERTIME DOLLARS AS A FUNCTION OF TOTAL LABOUR DOLLARS.

MR. FAYE:  Just one or two brief questions on this issue of what's discretionary and what is not.  Would I be correct in saying that most of your forestry work wouldn't need to be done on overtime, unless you have a storm go through and there is trees down, but most of your planned forestry work would be done on regular hours?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I can give you one pretty telling statistic within customer operations where forestry resides.  Seventy-six percent of the overtime is as a result of storm damage or trouble call.

MR. FAYE:  So there is about 24 percent that is attributable to other conditions?

MR. MCDONELL:  The other conditions would be a mix of planned outages, and completing critical work or completing work where it makes sense to have overtime.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And I think we have arrived, now, at what I would have considered discretionary overtime; that is, completing work that you consider to be critical.  I could understand criticality as it applied to an externally imposed in-service date.

For instance, you have -- take the Green Energy Act.  You have a generator that you have guaranteed you will have a connection available for him on a particular day.  And I can see where you may have to work overtime because you have to meet that date.

But if it's a planned program that you have an internally imposed deadline on, would you work overtime to meet that internally imposed deadline?

MR. MCDONELL:  I guess it depends on the circumstances.  I mean, maybe I could give you another example where we might have overtime, say, within engineering construction services, where we need some drafting work completed in order for some other work to be completed downstream, perhaps engineering, so by having a bottleneck upfront causes some disruption later on.

So that could be an example of critical work that needs to be completed so other work can commence.

MR. FAYE:  And would that work be forecast, would that overtime component be forecasted in your work program in advance?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Some of that sort of overtime -- and I talk about the planned overtime -- would be forecast.  When we look at our overall work program and plan and prioritize it, we also look to see how to accomplish that.

Now, there could be resource constraints.  For example, ones that you have heard here and in previous applications, protection control engineers.

So in order to achieve the work program, in order to mitigate risk and so forth, while we are trying to secure additional protection control work capacity, whether through hiring or what have you, we may need to rely on overtime in some cases, in some critical cases, in order to get the work done.

MR. FAYE:  And would your manager level, department manager level have the discretion to order that overtime?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.  I am going to move now to another area.  This is another carryover question.

To understand it, you will need to turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 8, page 3.  Do you have that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  The table on the page there, asset management functions, I am only interested in questioning you about one particular subset and that is system investment.

A few pages on in that schedule, specifically page 8, there is a listing of the reasons why there is an increased pressure on costs in system investment.

Without going through them all, am I correct in concluding that the great majority of the reason is related to the additional impact of distributed generation on your system?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No, that's not correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, let's go through them one at a time then and you can clarify.

The first one is:

"A significantly increased work program resulting from the initiatives of the Green Energy and Green Environment Act."

That would have to do with distributed generation, wouldn't it?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  "The higher levels of maintenance,
refurbishment and replacement of assets required to maintain the condition and reliability of assets, as well as implement improvements."

Is that part of green energy demands?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No.

MR. FAYE:  "The additional development of technical
interconnection requirements for distributed generation and consultation with generators concerning the application of these requirements."

That is related to generator; right?



MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Additional preparation of engineering protection and control specifications required to accommodate generators.  That one clearly is to do with generators, am I right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Additional studies to determine the impacts of reverse flow on power equipment.  I assumed that that had to do with generators feeding into your system causing a reverse flow on a circuit.  Am I right there?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  "Development of P&C standards for
distribution stations and controllable elements."

How would you categorize that one?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That would be related to distribution stations and it would be driven certainly by green energy-type work.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  "An increase in the number of
requests for generation applications."

Green energy related?  Would you agree to that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And: "A need to develop new standards
related to configurations or connections to the distribution and transmission networks."

Is that green energy related?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  I don't believe so.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we had a total of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight categories on this page, two of which are not related and six of which are.

I would ask you again:  Would you agree that most of these costs are being driven by green energy?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Mr. Faye, I would direct your attention to page 9 where there are four further categories.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Without reading them all into the record, the first one refers to government policy decisions on the province's generation mix.  Does that have a green energy component?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  This is work that -- actually, a lot of this work existed and predated green energy.  So I am not sure if this is driven by green energy.  Some of it could be categorized as green energy now, but it was certainly driven in the past by the IPSP.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  The next one is:  "A greater
number and complexity of section 92 approvals and environmental approvals."

Do you have section 92 and environmental approvals in the distribution system?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No, we don't.

MR. FAYE:  So this would apply to transmission, right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  "And the need to comply with new industry standards and codes," are those new standards and codes related to new generation on your distribution system?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That would be part of it, but there are others as well.

MR. FAYE:  "And the higher levels of maintenance, refurbishment or replacement required for an aging asset base," that one is not green energy related?  Or is it?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is not.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So we have a couple in that section of four that are sort of partly involved in green energy.  One that doesn't have anything to do with distribution.  And so I come back to, I think, my point is that a large part of your system investment is related to Green Energy Initiatives.

Would you agree with that?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No, I would not.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  What percentage of your system investment dollars seen on table 1 would be related to green energy investments?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  We really don't have a dollar estimate for system investment or any, any other group within asset management that is terribly meaningful.

If I could maybe explain and elaborate on that a little bit.

If I draw your attention, first of all, to C1, tab 2, schedule 8, page 3 on line 12, an important point here is that asset management is one of several work delivery lines of businesses and its focus is the work initiation stage of the work delivery chain.  As such, its costs are subject to the same upward cost pressures associated with the increased work programs as the other lines of businesses in the chain.

Now, in the evidence in responses to interrogatories, we have identified that the main drivers for the increases stemmed from the expanded, the increased sustainment requirements, increased development requirements which certainly include green energy, and the growth in volume and complexity of legislative and regulatory-driven work, which you have heard about in previous panels.

And that would be the main driver.

So when we do planning, we plan on a work basis and then we look to see how that pot of work can be achieved.  And so the resources, when you look at system investment or any of the other groups, they're looking at a macro level to try to understand how to achieve the pot of work.  Not necessarily how to achieve work that is green versus non-green, load related or non-load related.  It is all just work.

So I am not really able to give you a very good idea of what the percentage is.

MR. FAYE:  Looking at the numbers here, from 2008 when you spent 24 million in this department, if I can call it that, moving to 37.1, am I right in assuming that most of the dollars in here will be labour?  This is staff costs?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you build this budget up, your managers come to you and say, It looks like I've got a whole lot of work to do that I didn't have to do before and I'm going to need X number of new staff members to do that.

Does that happen?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  They do certainly look to their own groups and determine the staff mix, the resource mix that they need to bring to bear in order to achieve the pot of work.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And do they do that on an exception basis?  What I mean to say is do they look at their current staff and add to that the new amount of work that has to be done?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  The work changes from -- or the mix of work can change from year to year.  So they do look at the entire portfolio of work that they need to undertake, and then seek to understand how to actually implement the work.

MR. FAYE:  But I would assume that as a director, someone coming to you saying, Well, my portfolio has grown so my staff must grow, that probably isn't a good enough justification to you, would it be?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  They would be justifying increases based on the work, the various types of work, that is seen as growing and how it impacts their group.

However, what they don't necessarily bring forward -- in fact, what they don't flow through is the causation for that work.  What they see is an increase in type of work A, B and C, meaning lines work, development, sustainment, that sort of thing, types of work as opposed to the causes for the work.

MR. FAYE:  Just let me clarify.

Did you say that they come forward with the causes for increasing staff, or do they come forward with, Well, we have more sustainment, we have more development?  Which one of those two?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  We have more sustainment and kinds of sustainment, more development, that sort of thing.

MR. FAYE:  And as a director or manager of the department, would you ask the question, Well, what comprises this increased work in sustainment and development?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  We certainly would put them through a challenge process, which you have heard about in earlier panels.

So the managers and directors of the planning organization would challenge their own planners to determine how much work is set out, how much is required and what's required to do that.

And that challenge would go forward through the corporation.

MR. FAYE:  And in the course of that challenge, is it conceivable that someone might say how much of this extra staff you need needs to be devoted to Green Energy Initiatives?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  It is conceivable that any form of causal driver could be asked.

However, it is just not the way that resources are planned, how the execution of the work is planned.

We look at the work that needs to be done after it's determined why it is needed to be done.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I'm confused a little bit, because I don't see how you could make an informed decision on adding staff to a department if there was no specifics on what they were going to be doing.  Surely when that person gets hired in, they have a job description and there is a bundle of work on their desk; right?  And some of it would be green energy related work and some of it wouldn't be.

But at the planning stage, where you have to hire the person, is it just, We need someone to work on protection control standards, without any kind of discussion of why they have to work on them?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  In the planning of the work execution, what's looked at is the total volume of work that needs to be done and the different kinds of work that needs to be done, and then various types of resources and work capacity are brought to bear to achieve that work.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I am not going to belabour that.  I will address the issue in argument.

I am going to turn to, unfortunately, another carried-forward question, but this one might be brief, I think.

This has to do with compensation.  And just to preface before I ask you to turn up the exhibit, there was a report, the Mercer report, on compensation filed previously in a previous application, the transmission one.

Are you familiar with that, any of the panel?

MR. MCDONELL:  I certainly am, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  I didn't want to drag it in here.  It's a lengthy report.

But the report generally concluded, if I recall correctly, that Hydro One compensation was greater than the median for its peers in that study.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's a fair statement, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Do you recall what the approximate percentage was?

MR. MCDONELL:  On an overall average, it was 17 percent --

MR. FAYE:  That's what I thought.

MR. MCDONELL:  -- above median.

MR. FAYE:  Would I be correct in saying that since that report was issued, nothing much has changed?  Are you still about 17 percent above the median?

MR. MCDONELL:  That study was done in January 2008, so I think it would be fair to say that the results would still be pretty accurate.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then could we look, then, at Energy Probe 6?  That would be H3, schedule 6.

MR. MCDONELL:  Schedule 6?

MR. FAYE:  Right.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. FAYE:  The (a) part of our enquiry was to ask you to calculate, if you didn't give the increase that you were planning, if you gave a lower increase, what would the impact of that be on your revenue requirement.

And the response was, Well, we can't figure that out, because we distinguish between the transmission and the distribution components of compensation.

Is that a correct paraphrasing of your answer?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct, but if I could be maybe of some assistance here, since we have filed this interrogatory, we have done some number crunching.  And, on a rough basis, I can say it would be about $225,000 for the distribution case, a reduction.

MR. FAYE:  So $225,000 reduced, if the planned increase for the MCP category went from 3 to 2.5?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And could I make that on a per unit basis by saying it is double that if you dropped it by 1 percent?  For every 1 percent, your compensation for management compensation goes down $450,000?

MR. MCDONELL:  We haven't done that calculation.  If you think it is something important, we can do that.  I wouldn't want to...

MR. FAYE:  I am just wondering, can I generalize from the fact that if you drop by half a percent, it equals $225,000 in savings?  Are there complicating factors if you drop by 1 percent?  Would it be double that saving?

MR. MCDONELL:  For the sake of argument, I would agree.

MR. FAYE:  It is generally --

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then could we look at Energy Probe No. 1.  Just prior to getting to that, could you give us, like, a thumbnail explanation of how come you don't -- you aren't able to separate your transmission and distribution compensation?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Excuse us.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCDONELL:  Let me give a high-level answer to that, and maybe Mr. Villett or Mr. Malozewski might want to jump in.  But we have an integrated work force, so we have staff that work on transmission assets; we have staff that work on distribution assets.  And, as such, it is very difficult to tease out the labour costs for distribution or transmission independently.

MR. FAYE:  But when they work on a distribution circuit, they charge to a distribution number, do they not, a work order number, an OM&A account number?  Is this how it works?  They report their time against numbers?

MR. MCDONELL:  I might have to refer to my finance person here.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.  The labour hours find their way into work programs, whether it is capital or OM&A, by way of the standard charging rates.

MR. FAYE:  By way of the standard charging rates.  So you have a labour cost per hour, an all-in cost, say it is $100; is that what it is?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And that includes the base rate, the welfare payments, OPEB.  Anything that might apply to that employee's payroll cost is in that one number per labour hour; is that right?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's approximately correct.  It does contain a number of elements.

MR. FAYE:  But they do report their labour hour to a particular sub-account or a particular work order that's distinguishable by transmission or distribution?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So if you have all of the labour hours that got charged to distribution in a year and you have an all-inclusive rate for labour, why couldn't you multiply one by the other and get total compensation for labour and distribution.

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  Excuse me.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  On a forward basis, on an actuals basis, as I mentioned, the labour time, labour hours are charged to the various work orders, whether they are T or D.

But that's on an actual basis.  So in other words, six months from now I could look back over a previous six-month period and see how much had been charged.

On a forward-looking, planned basis, there are a number of factors that come into play, and these are what pieces of work are going to be done with internal resources, what pieces of work will be contracted out in their entirety, some hybrid of that.

So it is difficult to try to even predict, going forward, what would be the impact.

MR. FAYE:  I can understand that response in the terms of separating your internal labour costs from, for instance, contractor costs.  That does -- I think there is some merit in your argument there, but surely you know on a forecast basis what projects and distribution you are going to work on answer which projects and transmission you're going to work on.  Isn't that the basis of your rate application?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So on a forecasting basis, you should know the labour component of the programs that you are proposing in the application; would that be fair?

MR. MALOZEWSKI:  No.  Not necessarily.

Although we do know which projects are transmission, which projects are distribution, it is still the case that the plan still needs to evolve as to how the various projects are to be undertaken.

Again, it could be with internal labour completely, with --completely as an external turnkey project.  With purchased services.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Let's turn to Energy Probe 6, which is H-3-6.

Looking at the average MCP base increases in the second part of our interrogatory there, the increases over 2006 to 2009 varied from 3.8 percent down to 1.5 percent.

And if you could just turn up another of our IRs, that is IR 1, H-3-1, on the second page of that there is a table that lists the consumer price index for Ontario.

I will preface this question with an assumption, that when you say economic increase for staff, are you referring to an amount to offset the increase in the cost of living?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I would not say that.

What we need to be able to do is have a competitive salary so that we can be able to attract and retain and motivate our current staff.  So it is more than just keeping up with CPI.

MR. FAYE:  I think we just got finished talking about the Mercer report where you are 17 percent above median on a total weighted average for your company.

And I wonder why you would need to increase above CPI to remain competitive when you are already probably top quartile.

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps we should step back from that 17 percent for a moment, because the Mercer report is -- shows 17 percent above median on an average basis, but you have to unbundle that into the various groups.

For the MCP compensation, from the Mercer report, we are actually slightly below median.  For our Society staff, we are just slightly above median, and for the PWU we are 21 percent above median.  So the PWU is the driver to the 17 percent.

The MCP actually was below median.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So part of your economic increase here is a strategy to retain MCP employees because they're not paid in the top quartile.  They're paid about median or a little below median; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's part of it.  It is also to attract MCP applicants to our organization.

MR. FAYE:  How many MCP employees do you have, just a rough estimate?  600.

MR. FAYE:  Six hundred.  How many left last year of their own accord?

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe we had an interrogatory on that.  I think it was 25.

MR. FAYE:  Twenty-five.

MR. MCDONELL:  Twenty-five to 28.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let's say 30 because it makes the math a lot easier.  So that is 30 on 600.  Three on 60, 120.  Five percent of your staff up and leave every year.  What is the average turnover ratio of your staff in your corporation as a whole?

MR. MCDONELL:  We also had an interrogatory on that, as well.  We see ranges, it depends on the year but anywhere from 2 to 4 percent.  In 2008, we had a 3.5 percent attrition rate.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, fine.  I think I have enough on the record to argue that and I won't belabour it.

Let me turn to the increases that you plan for your union staff.  And I believe that that is in Exhibit A-14-1, Appendix A, page 2 and page 3.

Starting with the Society staff, it happens to be the first one on the page.  There is a 3 percent increase effective April 1st, 2009 and 2010, and 2.5 percent increase in 2011 and 2012.  The subject that we just discussed, the ability to attract and retain staff, versus the Mercer report that 17 percent above median was the average for the utility.  Does the Society staff, where do they fall in that Mercer report?

MR. MCDONELL:  They were 5 percent above median.

MR. FAYE:  5 percent above median.  So they're closer to median than the PWU are, too.

And are you arguing the same case, that you need a 3 percent economic increase in a time when the CPI is lower in order to maintain your competitiveness?

MR. MCDONELL:  We also take a look at what external forecasters are predicting, and I can say that, for instance, in 2010, the Conference Board of Canada is predicting about a 3.2 percent increase in salaries in the public sector.  So we take a look at that data, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Do you measure your turnover of staff by group?  Do you know?  Do you know what your turn over is on Society staff?

MR. MCDONELL:  By representation group?  I don't have that information, no.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I don't know that it is particularly significant.

The PWU staff are on page 3 --

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Faye, could we have that complete reference again.  We have lost you.

MR. FAYE:  Sure.  A-14-1 is the exhibit.  And it is Appendix A and I am on page 3 now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  There is a 3 percent increase effective April 1st, 2008.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Does that suggest that 2009 was a bargaining year?

MR. MCDONELL:  2008 was a bargaining year.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, at least this group, does comprise the individuals or the trade groups that are 17 percent above median in the Mercer report?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  This contract also has a COLA provision.

MR. MCDONELL:  PWU or Society?

MR. FAYE:  PWU.

MR. MCDONELL:  I would have to do checks.  Society sure.  PWU I would have to check.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Would I be correct in assuming that your COLA provisions are triggered by something like CPI?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is -- in the Society agreement, it is, yes.

MR. FAYE:  If it was PWU, would you use the same measure?

MR. MCDONELL:  These COLA clauses have the same sort of model, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Have you taken any strategic direction to try to reduce the 17 percent differential between median and your weighted average trade compensation?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  That's a popular question that we have had in the past, and if you are involved in collective bargaining, it is very difficult to alter significant items like wages, pensions and benefits and we understand that risk.

That's not to say that we're not interested in pursuing cost reductions and increased productivity, because we very much are.

What we have put in our evidence, if I can direct you to it, at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, starting at page 5 and carrying over to page 6, are a couple of charts that show a number of areas for which we have found cost reductions or increased productivity without having to reduce compensation and benefits.

Now, we have done that with, for instance, the MCP, the management staff.  We have introduced new pension and benefit provisions.  We have introduced new pension provisions with the Society of Energy Professionals.

So we have made some inroads in those areas, as well.

MR. FAYE:  Do any of those apply to the PWU group?

MR. MCDONELL:  The pension benefits, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Any other strategies with PWU to reduce the wages over time so that they're more competitive?

MR. MCDONELL:  Every round of collective bargaining, we go into a round of determining what the proper bargaining agenda will be.  It depends on -- every year, it depends on the circumstances, but one of the constant criteria that we're looking for is to find ways to reduce costs and increase productivity, maybe not on the wages and benefits, but through other means.

And this is what -- this chart illustrates a number of the achievements that we have made.

MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you right, your strategy is not to get the actual wage rate down to a competitive level.  It is to get more work for that wage than your peers are getting?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is partially a fair comment, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Looking at Exhibit H3, schedule 1, I think I asked you to turn that up a little earlier.  On page 2 is the CPI numbers, and they're showing from 2006 through 2011.

In comparison to those CPI numbers, your wage increases for PWU staff have been higher, haven't they?

MR. MCDONELL:  They have.

MR. FAYE:  Now, I understand that there are uncertainties associated with the collective bargaining process in that they have to be negotiated probably in advance of things like a collapse of the economy.

But have you attempted, in your collective bargaining, to recover what we can only characterize as overpayments on economic increases?

So if you paid 3 percent more in 2006 and the CPI ended up being at 1.8, do you ever go back and try to get that 1.2 in your next round?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would have to disagree with you in your view that these are overpayments.  These are not overpayments.

When we bargain with our union representatives, we need to know what the market bears for wage increases, what other competitors are paying in the marketplace.

So if I can ask you to turn to Exhibit H, tab 6, schedule 5, page 2 of 2, which happens to be a PWU interrogatory, there are a number of external forecasts that we have taken a look at to determine what is the appropriate base wage increase.

For instance, there was a 3.5 percent annual percentage wage adjustment for major public sector employees.  There is a 3.1 percent increase for all public sector settlements.  These are various external forecasts for wage adjustments for 2008.  So as a matter of fact, we were below what other bargaining negotiations resulted in.

MR. FAYE:  Over the course of time, would you agree that your economic increases have been greater than the CPI?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree that they were greater than the CPI, but less than what other bargaining unions were achieving.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I am sure that you could always find a union that got more.  You can always find ones that got less, I'm sure, as well.

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't think we're talking about a union.  I think we're talking about unions in the public sector, for instance.

MR. FAYE:  And specifically in your type of business in the public sector?

MR. MCDONELL:  There are a lot of reports here.  I haven't gone through them all, but they do break it down into the utility sector in some of the data, yes, and we're certainly comparable.

MR. FAYE:  So if you were going in to collective bargaining tomorrow, would there ever be an item on the agenda to try and even out the amount between what you gave in the past as an economic increase and what the CPI actually turned out to be?

MR. MCDONELL:  You see, I guess we have a fundamental disagreement on what the appropriate rate should be.  You keep referring to CPI.

In a bargaining relationship, I think it is more than that.  I mean, we are in a labour market where there are short supply of a lot of skills that we need.

So that is going to have an upward pressure on wages, collective bargaining time.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand your position and we might fundamentally disagree on the philosophy here.  I am only asking:  Do you ever try to get the difference back between your economic increase and what CPI actually was?

MR. MCDONELL:  I would say that -- do we try?  In any round of bargaining, you just don't go to 3 percent right away.  You bargain various levels until you finally reach an agreement.  So if you are asking do we go in and put 3 percent on the table right away?  No.

MR. FAYE:  No, I don't think I am asking you that at all.  I think I am asking:  Do you go in there and say, It looks like we gave you 3 percent in 2006 and 3-1/2 in 2007, and you know it was only 1.8 and 1.5 on the CPI --

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, certainly --

MR. FAYE:  -- we would like to recover that.

MR. MCDONELL:  Certainly we would use those arguments to put downward pressure on the expectations at bargaining, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Have you been successful in that argument?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, because you have -- I think you have seen sort of the average increases that we have had, which is consistent with other bargaining agents.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  Let me ask you one more question, and then I will move on here.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  Your COLA provisions, they're strictly a one-way COLA; right?  If they're triggered, the union staff get more?  There is not a negative trigger that the union staff gets less?

MR. MCDONELL:  There is not a negative trigger.  I am not sure I have ever heard of a negative trigger.
Procedural Matters:


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  We are rapidly closing in on 4 o'clock here, Madam Chair.  Are we going to adjourn at 4 o'clock?

MS. NOWINA:  How are you doing, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  I am not doing very well.

MS. NOWINA:  How much longer, Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  I have one fairly big area, and then I have a bunch that hopefully could be asked -- answered in two questions each.  They're more or less confirmation type things, but they're not on the record, so I have to ask them.

MS. NOWINA:  Can you give me an estimate?  Half an hour, an hour?

MR. FAYE:  Half an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  In total?

MR. FAYE:  In total.

[Board panel confers]

MS. NOWINA:  Well, a half an hour might have been okay, Mr. Faye, but we want to have our discussion about scheduling, coincidentally.  So I think that if you are at a good break point, we will resume with you in the morning and we will have our discussion about scheduling now, and then we will break.

So, actually, people have been sticking fairly well to their estimates.  My concern is that if I look at the estimates that Board Staff has given me for this panel, we still have another 4, 4-1/2 half hours to go on this panel, which would presumably -- another 4-1/2 hours of cross-examination, with whatever other matters come up, and they always come up, we will be probably close to a full day on Thursday.

So someone tell me that their estimates are wrong, or give me some other glimmer of hope that we are going to complete our planned examination this week.

MR. ROGERS:  I have to remind you, as well, Madam Chair, that Mr. Todd was scheduled for tomorrow.

MS. NOWINA:  For Thursday?

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, Thursday.

MS. NOWINA:  Today is Tuesday.  We are down tomorrow.

MR. ROGERS:  It just seems like Thursday.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Hmm-hmm.  We don't have to get it all done tomorrow, Mr. Rogers.  We have two more days, but still...

MR. CLARK:  Madam Chair, Mr. Crocker has left for the afternoon, so I am not sure what estimate you have.  But it should be inside of a half hour for AMPCO.

MS. NOWINA:  I have half an hour for Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Todd is going Friday, right?

MR. ROGERS:  Thursday.

MS. NOWINA:  Thursday?

MR. ROGERS:  Thursday.  He is coming here Thursday.  I think that has always been plan.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  He can't be here Friday.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's talk through what we know, then.  The Hopper Foundry, Mr. Millar, do you know when they are coming?

MR. MILLAR:  I do.  Mr. DeRose has left us.  It is Thursday at one o'clock, I understand.

MS. NOWINA:  Thursday at one o'clock.

MR. MILLAR:  Right after lunch.

MS. NOWINA:  How long do we expect them to be?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't have a firm estimate, but using last time as a guide, not more than half an hour, I would think.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And Mr. DeVellis do you know how long the cross-examination for Mr. Todd is going to take?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Shepherd will be here for that and the last time we spoke about it he said under two hours.

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else plan to cross-examine Mr. Todd?  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a rough estimate from my consultant of something around 20 minutes or less.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Anyone else, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  We would be very brief, if anything.

MR. CLARK:  Madam Chair, we have no plans to cross Mr. Todd.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So Mr. Todd and Mr. -- and the Hopper Foundry could be completed in half a day on Thursday, or close to that.

This panel, then, would slip -- we would do part of it Thursday, some more probably Friday morning.  Sorry, guys.  And then the question is how long we think the load forecast panel would take.  Do we have estimates on that?  Mr. Millar, do we have estimates on that panel?

MR. MILLAR:  They have been coming in but we don't have the complete information on that.  My indication is it won't be terribly long.  Maybe as soon as we finish I can lean upon my friends to provide me with some firm numbers.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't I lean upon them to provide me with those right now.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a preliminary estimate of an hour to and hour and a half.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Likely less than half an hour, say half an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  If this is panel 5 that we're discussing, Madam Chair --

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- we won't be examining on load forecast but we will on the USL issue which should be 40 minutes or less.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. CLARK:  Madam Chair, I expect AMPCO to be well less than half an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  We will be less than a half an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  We don't have either CME or CCC here.  Does anyone have any idea?  Have you been talking to your colleagues?  All right.  Mr. Millar is going to have to figure that out for us.

So assuming CME and CCC are not two hours each or something, assuming that they're in the same range as the rest of you, we can, if we are aggressive, finish, and we're going to have to be aggressive.  So maybe we will be taking -- we may take shorter lunches or something in order to get through all of this.  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  That's fine.  I will tell Mr. But to speak quickly so we will get through his evidence in a hurry.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  That may help.

Well, with that, we will adjourn for today.  If there are -- Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry.  I just remembered.  I recall that when Mr. DeRose raised the issue of the cost of capital report having been issued, that there was a possibility that panel 2 might be recalled because that would be the panel that would answer questions about cost of capital.

And we didn't have the report until after panel 2 had started and most people had been done, I thought.

So I just recall there was an outstanding issue about recalling panel 2 for that purpose.  I don't know if it will be rolled into whatever cost of capital proceeding we end up with, but I just wanted to raise that.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  The cost of capital question is all outstanding at this point and I would include any further examination of Hydro One's witnesses, if necessary, or appropriate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Long.

MR. LONG:  While we're on the scheduling -- the light is indicating it is on, but ...

MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.  Try again.

MR. LONG:  Okay.  Do you have proposed dates for January?

MS. NOWINA:  We do.  Mr. Millar?

MR. LONG:  That would be helpful for us.

MS. NOWINA:  I believe they were in a procedural order.

MR. MILLAR:  It is in a PO.  I believe we're starting the 15th if I am not mistaken, I'm sorry the 11th, and that is for the Green Energy issues, the allocation issues.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.  But we do have days set aside in January beginning the 11th, so ...

MR. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  We may use those days for other purposes.

Any other questions?  All right.  We are adjourned until 9 o'clock on Thursday morning.

--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.
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